
Kamla Bakaya (a background note). By Ravi M. Bakaya

My parents were married in 1919. Both my father, Autar Lal Bakaya, and my mother Kamla (nee 
Aga) were from Kashmiri Pandit families that had emigrated from the Kashmir valley several generations 
ago and settled down in northern India. The Kashmiri Pandits had adopted Urdu as their spoken and literary 
language and had produced many eminent Urdu poets, writers and scholars (Ratan Nath Sarshar, Brij 
Narain Chakbast, Brij Mohan Dattatreya Kaifi and others). In 1931 and 1932 two large volumes of Urdu 
poetry, each running into some 800-900 pages, were published from Allahabad under the patronship of Sir 
Tej Bahadur Sapru. Called Bahar-e-gulshan-e-Kashmir, these volumes contained verses by hundreds of 
Kashmiri Pandit poets, each contributor being introduced by a brief biographical note. Since my father left 
no written records about himself, the facts about his life given below are mainly based on his brief life­
sketch in the first volume of Bahar-e-gulshan-e-Kashmir and on what we had heard from our elders, and on 
our own experience of living with him for short periods. For several years, he was honorary editor of the 
journal Bahar-e-Kashmir, which was published from Lahore by the Kashmiri Pandits' Association, but we 
have no copies of this journal available now.

Autar Lal Bakaya was born in the Punjab town of Gujrat (now in Pakistan) in 1898. He had his 
schooling in Gujrat and came to Lahore for his college education. His college record up to his B.A. shows 
that he was a man of exceptional brilliance. For his M.A. he joined Government College but here his luck 
ran out and he was unsuccessful in getting his Master’s degree. This was the time of the Civil Disobedience 
movement, which followed the massacre of Jallianwala Bagh in neighbouring Amritsar, and the Indian 
students were subjected to many humiliations including a compulsory roll call by British soldiers during the 
days of martial law in Lahore. This failure turned Autar Lal away from a government job and compelled him 
to sit at home without employment for eight years. But he made many friends in the Government College 
and took part in drama and literary activities. Many of his contemporaries and friends later became writers 
and men of eminence in various fields.

My parents’ was an arranged marriage, as was the norm then. My mother was three years younger 
to my father. She was born in 1900 in Rawalpindi and came from a family where the atmosphere was very 
different from what she found in her husband’s family, which was much more conservative. The eldest of 
many children, she was taught at home by her father since there were then no schools for girls. Her father 
Pt. Rup Kishen Aga was in judicial service and retired as district and sessions judge of Allahabad, which 
was then not only the capital of the United Provinces but also the political capital of the country. The Nehrus 
lived here, so did such eminent people as Tej Bahadur Sapru, Madan Mohan Malaviya and others. The All 
India Congress Committee had its headquarters in Allahabad. The city boasted of one of the oldest Indian 
universities and had a rich social and intellectual life.

Even before he was posted in Allahabad, my grandfather, being a judge, always had a large 
house with a garden. He was a lover of books and he brought up his daughters without making a distinction 
between them and his sons. The house had a rich collection of books in English and Hindi. My mother lived 
in the midst of nature and enjoyed the kind of freedom that was rare in those days for girls. She was always 
fond of keeping a diary and when she was married, she brought with her a box full of her diaries and 
notebooks, something which roused not a little curiosity and gave rise to many snide remarks amongst her 
in-laws. Some of these diaries have survived and they show the mental pangs she had to suffer because of 
her different background. She tried her best to learn housework and adapt herself to her new life, but she 
had often to hear comparisons with the wife of my father’s younger brother Bishan Lal, who had got married 
earlier. The younger bahu was fair-complexioned and good-looking and was, moreover, in tune with the 
customs and atmosphere of the house.

Though my father and mother came to know each other only after they got married, they soon 
came to love each other. My father gave my mother many books, including English poets, to read when they 
had a little time to themselves in their room at night. He suffered mentally as he was unemployed, and he 
longed to have an independent home.

1



Avenues of employment for educated youth in those days were scarce. Most well educated 
Kashmiri Pandit young men dreamt of a government job, which my father's temperament ruled out. My 
uncle Bishan Lal got employed early in his life and had a safe job with the railways. My grandfather Mohan 
Lal Bakaya was employed as a sarishtedar (overseer) with a senior British officer in the district courts. His 
was considered a very respectable and well-paid post.

My father was persuaded in 1925 by his mother's close relative Col. Haksar, then the Prime 
Minister of the princely state of Gwalior, to buy land in the small township of Ganj Basoda in the fertile Malva 
region of Gwalior State, where he settled down as a zamindar. Soon he was elected the President of the 
Panchayati Board and Chairman of the Traders' Association. He also began privately studying law. He had 
always been interested in literature, both English and Urdu, and recited his first Urdu verses in a mushaira 
in Basoda in 1928. My mother, who had for the first time set up an independent household, found herself 
enjoying a life close to nature and learnt to milk cows and keep poultry. She kept her small house tidy and 
occasionally plastered the floor and the lower part of the walls with a thin mixture of cow dung and fine 
straw, the smell of which we children loved and which was said to have disinfectant qualities. Occasionally, 
we would all travel in a dhamni (bullock cart) and enjoy the ride, the bullocks with bells round their necks 
racing like horses on the kaccha pathway which led to our land in Chak Jiyajipur three or four miles away. 
While we lived in the township of Basoda, the land was looked after mainly by a headman who lived in the 
chak. A few peasant families lived here in thatched huts. There was a well from which the entire chak drew 
its water and I remember the graceful deer which would come bouncing there to quench their thirst from the 
water collected in the small tank, built next to the well. The only pucca structure in Chak Jiyajipur was a 
longish room with a single open window and a shelf built into the wall, where I remember to have seen 
several interesting books, including one on co-operative farming!

By October 1929 the last of my parents’ five children was born. The elder children were all born in 
my mother’s maika, as was the custom. But my youngest brother was born in Kasur (now in Pakistan), a 
sizeable town where my paternal grandfather was then posted. We used to visit our grandparents on both 
our father’s and mother’s side from time to time and stay with them, sometimes for a few months. My elder 
brother Shashi was just over a year older to me. However, the next child after me, my sister Vimla, came 
after a gap of almost five years. She and the younger sister Sarala were both born in Allahabad. I remember 
the confinement room in Allahabad as well as in Kasur where the babies were born. We were not allowed to 
enter and see the baby for many days after it was born.

With five children—three sons and two daughters—the problem of schooling for the eldest two, 
who were now seven and six years old, arose. Basoda then had no good school. It was at this time, in 1930 
that my mother’s father, Pt. Rup Kishan Aga learnt that some young women were preparing to leave for 
Rome to study the Montessori Method of teaching small children under Madame Montessori herself. My 
grandfather wrote to my parents proposing that my mother join the group and agreed to bear all related 
expenses. He made the same proposal to my mother’s sister Roop Kumari and her husband, Gopal Narain 
Shivpuri, who lived in Allahabad.

This is how another sharp turn came about in my mother’s life. From some extracts that my mother 
copied out in her diaries from my father’s letters to her, one learns that he wrote to my mother that he was 
prepared to go to any length to see that she got the best opportunities for self-development and attained the 
greatest heights, including an independent career. This was something extraordinary, as it meant 
dismantling the independent household they had set up in Basoda after such a long struggle. Moreover, my 
mother was leaving behind five children. My aunt faced no such problem, as her husband lived in 
Allahabad, and they had then no children. Her husband had a small practice in the local courts as a 
young lawyer.

All of us children were packed off to Allahabad, to be looked after by our grandmother and our 
aunts. Most of my ten uncles and aunts were then in college in Allahabad. So we became part of a large 
joint family and my elder brother Shashi and I soon started going to school, while the younger children were 
fondly looked after by my grandmother and my aunts.

My mother kept a diary in Rome too, and many of her class notebooks with detailed notes in 
English and Italian have been preserved. A new world opened up before her, an advanced world where she



could put her latent creative abilities to use. Madame Maria Montessori emphasized recognizing the child 
as an independent person, and helping to develop its personality, something that was in tune with my 
mother's instinctive thinking. My mother also kept some notes in a small pocket diary that she carried with 
herself even in buses and trams and in which we find some verses, some stray thoughts and her 
“philosophy of life". Titled “Desultory Journal’ and “Freaks of madness Baptised on Tram C.D. Evening 10 
March" (1931), it is a very interesting record. We learn from her notes that when she and her sister finished 
the Montessori course successfully, their father joined them on a short tour of Europe, including Paris and 
London. They arrived in London when Gandhiji was there to attend the Round Table Conference in 
September-October 1931. He met pupils and teachers of the Montessori course in the Great Hall of 
University College, London. There is a photograph in Muriel Lester’s book, ‘Gandhi, World Citizen', 
published by Kitab Mahal, Allahabad in 1945, in which my mother and aunt are seen with Gandhiji, along 
with the pupils of the Montessori course, watching Mahatma Gandhi at his charkha.

Since there were no Montessori classes in India then, my mother wrote to Mrs. Annie Besant for 
help. In a letter to Kamla, dated April 22, 1931, Dr. Tarak Nath Das, wrote from Munich, where he then lived, 
urging her to contact Gandhiji and Pt. Madan Mohan Malaviya on her return, so that with their help “some 
worthy and rich Indian may start a Montessori school at Delhi, or Lahore or Cawnpore or some other city 
where you may teach...’’ Dr. Das was a well known Indian radical nationalist, who later became Professor 
of Political Science at Columbia University in the USA.

Thus my mother came to join the Sir Ganga Ram Girls High School in Lahore on her return to 
India. The school had just started in its temporary premises. Meanwhile, my father too had left Basoda and 
was appointed principal of a new school in Gwalior State. However, he was again not destined to remain 
very long in an independent job. Bishan Lal, his only brother, died of meningitis in 1934 when he was hardly 
thirty-five, leaving behind a widow and two daughters. My father gave up his job and returned to Lahore to 
be with the family. We stayed initially with my paternal grandfather in Model Town, and later rented a small 
house not far away so that we could live independently. Later still, when Ganga Ram School got its new 
campus, we shifted from Model Town to a house within walking distance of the school in Lahore proper.

After her return from Europe, my mother’s status had changed and her abilities came to be 
grudgingly recognized by her in-laws. My father, jobless once again, decided this time not to look for a 
regular job and started giving tuitions in English and soon became quite popular with his students, who were 
ladies from well-to-do families doing college courses. All the children were also now studying in Lahore. 
Shashi and I were already in college and the younger children, my sisters Vimla and Sarala and our 
youngest brother Rati, went to Ganga Ram School, where my mother taught.

In the late thirties, Ganga Ram School shifted to its new extensive campus on the outskirts of the 
city. It also got a new distinguished principal, Miss Mrinalini Chattopadhyay. She belonged to the well- 
known Chattopadhyay family of Hyderabad. Her father had been the first principal of Nizam’s College and a 
well-known scientist. (Nizam’s College later became the University of Hyderabad.) The eldest son Virendra 
Nath Chattopadhyay went to study in Europe, where he became a revolutionary and was finally forced to 
live in exile in Germany.

The youngest sister, Suhasini, also went abroad and lived in Berlin with her exiled brother 
Virendranath, from where she went to Russia to study at the International 'Red University’ in Moscow. She 
returned to India in the late twenties and was the first woman to join the then underground Communist Party 
of India. Her elder brother was the poet, singer and actor Harindranath, who later became a Member of 
Parliament after the first elections held under the new Constitution adopted in 1950. Another sister, Sunalini, 
was well known as a cine-artiste, doing elderly roles. The most distinguished of all was the eldest sister 
Sarojini Naidu, ‘the Nightingale of India’, poet, orator and the first Indian woman to become President of the 
Indian National Congress in 1925. (Annie Besant, a British theosophist who had settled down in India, had 
earlier been elected President of the Indian National Congress in 1917.)

Wiui Mi inilani Chattopadhyay as principal of Ganga Ram School, her house soon became a hub 
of activities and a meeting place for the cream of Lahore’s intelligentsia—its writers, artists, musicians, 
students and intellectuals. Suhasini and Harin came to Lahore from time to tiiifc, and duririy ti iose days u ic 
house became alive with noise, laughter, songs and animated discussions.



Kamla organized an exhibition of paintings by tiny tots of her Montessori class, which attracted 
much attention. At about this time the school celebrated for the first time January 26 as Independence Day. 
The national flag was hoisted and patriotic songs were sung by the pupils and teachers. Among these songs 
was one composed by Kamla, ‘Azad karenge, Hind tujhe...’ This song later went on to become a great 
favourite with the national movement and was sung all over India in pre-lndependence years. Harin 
Chattopadhyaya chose Kamla as the feminine lead in one of his plays which was staged in the newly 
inaugurated open-air theatre in the Lawrence Gardens, Lahore’s famous park.

Meanwhile, fate brought Mme. Maria Montessori to India, where she arrived in Adyar (Madras) in 
1939, accompanied by her adopted son Mario. Dr. George Sidney Arundale and his famous dancer wife 
Rukmini Devi were instrumental in inviting them to India. Madame Montessori and her son left India after the 
war ten years later, when they could return to Europe after the defeat of fascism, which had forced them to 
leave their country. In India, Maria Montessori lectured on her method and developed an international 
following on her approach to child education. The Montessori Method was ardently supported by such 
eminent Indians as Rabindra Nath Tagore, Jawaharlal Nehru, Vijayalakshmi Pandit, Dr.S. Radhakrishnan 
and Dr. Zakir Husain. Kamla was thus able to meet her beloved teacher on Indian soil.

In those days Lahore was the most important educational, cultural and political centre in northern 
India and its most populous city as well. The younger generation intellectuals of Punjab were greatly 
influenced by radical politics. As the Second World War progressed, under the influence of Suhasini, who 
came to Lahore often and was an extraordinarily gifted organiser, the entire Bakaya family was drawn into 
radical politics. Suhasini came to see them in their home. She was interested not in ‘mere politics’ but also 
in music, literature and the arts. Shashi, the eldest of Kamla’s children, had started writing Urdu verses 
while he was still at school. In college he became a serious student of English literature. He joined the 
D.A.V. College initially, taking science subjects, as advised by his elders. But he had no interest in the 
science stream and fell short of the required minimum of attendance, and was not allowed to sit in the final 
Intermediate examinations. However, he became the captain of the college cricket team and won the first 
prize for his contributions to the college magazine.

After he had he lost a year, he decided to change his subjects, along with his college, for his third 
and fourth years. He joined B.A. (Honours) with English as his main subject in the Forman Christian 
College. He finished brilliantly, standing first in the college in English and Economics and winning a gold 
medal. Here too he became captain of the college cricket team. But he was criticised by the Lahore student 
leadership, who thought he was wasting his time, playing cricket and writing poetry in revolutionary times. 
So, though he had friends among many of them and read his poetry in the radical Renaissance Club, he did 
not take active part in student politics in Lahore. But whenever Suhasini came to Lahore, she heard his 
poems, seriously discussed them with him and encouraged him. After he had finished his B.A. (Hons.), she 
persuaded him to come to Bombay and join M.A. in Wilson College there. So he arrived in Bombay in 1941 
and joined M.A. with Honours in English. But in 1942 he left college for a full-time political career and 
joined the newly started Friends of the Soviet Union (FSU). He was elected General Secretary of its 
Bombay branch at the first conference of the Bombay FSU in June 1945. Shashi wrote many Hindi patriotic 
songs which were then sung all over the country. The most popular of them was ‘Hindi hum chalees karor...’ 
(We Indians are four hundred million strong...)

Meanwhile, in 1940 my father had decided to apply for employment in the newly-started 
Hindustani Section of the BBC (Radio) in London. It seems that my mother was against his going abroad 
during the war as she feared he might not be able to come back alive. But the opportunity of finally getting 
some decent employment and going abroad was too tempting and my father decided to take the risk. He 
had been earlier going from time to time as a 'casual artiste’ to the All India Radio Lahore, where he was 
paid for each appearance, and where he finally secured employment. He usually took part in radio plays. He 
was selected, and he left. Balraj Sahni and his first wife Damyanti—she died in 1947 after they returned to 
India and when she was already a well-known actress-were among those who joined the BBC Hindustani 
Section along with my father. The political implications of this move did not strike us then, but later from 
Shashi’s letters from Bombay we learnt that we should not have allowed our father to go as it was then, 
presumably, an ‘imperialist war’.



All of us, younger brothers and sisters, had now joined political work in various ways. An FSU 
group was started in a room in our house at 7-B, Birdwood Road, Lahore. My sister Vimla had joined the 
Kinnaird College after she finished school. She was followed there by our youngest sister Sarala. Vimla 
was taking an active part in students’ union politics and also started working amongst women inside the 
walled city. In college she organised the students on many political issues. She joined the singing squad of 
the Lahore Students’ Union and went to Bengal during the great famine of 1943 to help the victims of this 
man-made calamity. I had graduated in 1942 and joined a part-time diploma course in journalism in Punjab 
University, since I did not think it was any use going in for an M.A. degree. I had started working also in the 
trade union movement in Lahore.

The Communist Party became legal in July 1942 when it changed to its ‘People’s War' line, some 
months after Hitler attacked the Soviet Union. In Lahore, study circles and Party schools were held in their 
new office in a large building on McLeod Road. All of us went there from time to time. Vimla went to the 
First Congress of the CPI with the Punjab singing squad. The congress was held in May-June 1943. 
Though not a delegate, she attended the sessions and listened to the speeches of communist leaders who 
had come from all over India.

My father was suddenly taken ill and died in September 1943. This terrible news was conveyed to 
us through two successive cables, which came from London, one informing us of his grave illness and the 
other of his death. We were all shocked. Though she did not show it, my mother was shattered. She was 
hardly 43 and my father less than 45 when he died. By now, we children had started taking decisions about 
our own lives and took our mother more or less for granted. No religious or other ceremonies were held after 
my father’s death and my mother was taken away for a few weeks by her brother, Dr. C.M. Aga, to Bareilly, 
to give her a change. Our grandparents with the entire family shifted to our house, but we children strongly 
opposed this "intrusion’’ and they had to move out to a rented house not too far from our house. My mother 
got the sympathy and support of her principal and colleagues at school. We did not then realise that a very 
important phase of her life had ended when she was still comparatively young. In 1944, we decided to shift 
to an uncertain future in Bombay at the suggestion of Suhasini and Shashi. My mother was leaving her 
house and a good fourteen-year-old job. After my father’s death, she had perhaps little interest in the house. 
But her school and the little children she taught might have revived her interest in life. But we thought she 
identified with everything her children did and we had a right to take her support for our shifting to Bombay 
for granted. Perhaps, after my father’s death my mother too wanted to leave Lahore, where she had spent 
so many years with him, and start life anew.

My sister Vimla and I were the first two in the family to arrive in Bombay in June 1944. Vimla had 
already finished her Intermediate in Kinnaird College, Lahore and she joined Wilson College in the lllrd year 
taking the B.A. (Honours) course in Economics. I joined as a sub-editor in the People’s Publishing House, 
which belonged to the CPI. We lived temporarily in a part of an old house near a TB sanatorium, off 
Wadala, a suburban station. After some months we were able to shift to 7-B Willingdon Colony, Santa 
Cruz, a very much better house and much more conveniently placed. We soon had the entire first floor of 
the house of two floors, in a Catholic cooperative housing society. My mother initially found a job in a school, 
but since it was not suitable, she later shifted over to tuitions in two rich Marwari families, in one of which, 
that of the Dagas, she taught three boys. The eldest, Raja, as far as I can remember, already was in school. 
The twins, Ram and Lakshman, were taught by my mother from the first standard to the end of their school. 
Here she was much respected by Mrs. Daga, who was not very much educated, and was simply adored by 
her sons. She told them stories and recited to them poems she had read and had composed herself, and 
the boys became very fond of her. The other family was more educated and the gentleman even became 
an M.P. but—unlike the Dagas, who never deprived my mother of her salary when they temporarily went out 
of town-this other family went out for long months on holidays and did not pay her for the period when they 
“/Qre nnt of town, not realising that my mother’s entire family depended on her earnings. Shashi continued 
tu otay ot Khar with Suhasini and her husband R.M. Jambhekar, who had been released after serving a 
long period of detention in Nasik Jail under the Defence of India Act. A veteran trade unionist, Jambhekar 
was a fine artist, speaker and writer and also sang very well. He came from the illustrious industrialist family



of Jambhekars and Kirloskars. He had joined the CPI in 1929 as a young man, along with his close friend 
and cousin S.G. Sardesai.

Life in Bombay was hard for my mother. She had to travel long distances by bus and suburban 
train to get to her tuitions, do the essential shopping on her return journey to Santa Cruz, cook and take care 
of the house. She was the only earning member of the family. I got a “Party wage’ which, in those days, 
was Rs.40 a month. From this Rs.28 was deducted for two meals which I ate at my place of work at the 
Party headquarters (‘PHQ’) and the rest was spent on tea and sundries after office hours. Shashi did not 
get even a Party wage, so far as I can remember, and apart from a hectic work schedule, also assisted in 
cooking etc. at home, and during the late nights wrote his English poems and his Hindi songs. A lover of 
cricket and physical exercise in Lahore, he had become thinner with overwork and under-nourishment, 
which he readily accepted. My mother noticed this, and was troubled, but looking after one’s health was not 
part of ‘revolutionary life’ as far as her children were concerned.

The end of the war (the Germans surrendered on 7 May 1945 and the Japanese on 14 August) 
was met with joy by us all. We felt the day of India’s freedom too was not far. The trial of the INA prisoners 
that started soon afterwards roused the entire country in their defence. The INA officers, Gen. Shah Nawaz, 
Col. Sehgal and Col. Dhillon, were sentenced on January 3, 1946. But times had changed and the 
sentence was remitted and the officers released the same day. On 23 January the same year, on Subhas 
Bose’s birthday, a large meeting was held on Chaupati sands. After the meeting a section of crowd, 
incensed by some anti-communist speakers, started shouting slogans against the communists and 
marched towards the Party headquarters. Suddenly, the crowd attacked the PHQ building and tried to break 
in. They were stopped by the Red Guards stationed at the gate. Soda water bottles, bricks and stones 
started raining on the building where dozens of comrades were still there. They fought back valiantly, many 
were badly injured. I do not know how my mother came to sense that among those who were surrounded in 
the building might be her children. How she managed to enter the building in the chaos that reigned then we 
do not know. The building had a tiled roof and those who could not fight back with lathis climbed on the roof 
and broke the tiles which were used as flying missiles to fight the mob below. The police did not come for 
over an hour after the attack started. Then Col. Dhillon of the INA arrived and shamed the crowd, which 
soon dispersed. The badly injured were taken to hospitals.

One of Shashi’s last poems was a long poem on the Indian Naval Ratings’ Mutiny that broke out 
on 18th February 1946. Many of us, including Shashi were stranded in the PHQ for several days as many 
Party members had converged there on hearing that the Naval ratings had gone on strike. Suddenly a 24- 
hour curfew was declared. British soldiers in armoured cars shot at unarmed Indians who were 
demonstrating in the streets in solidarity with the ratings. Among the hundreds killed were many communists 
who took part in the demonstrations. In the PHQ, food was rationed. We slept on newspapers spread on 
the floor at night. It was in such conditions that Shashi’s long poem was written. The ratings' strike spread to 
other ports. It was called off on 23rd February when Sardar Patel and other Congress and Muslim League 
leaders, including Gandhiji, advised them to go back to their duties. They were assured there would be no 
victimisation. Opinion in the country was badly divided as radical leaders like Aruna Asaf Ali, and the 
communists, supported the action of the ratings as a revolutionary uprising against the British rule.

Serious communal riots broke out all over the country in 1946 following the Muslim League’s 
declaration of ‘Direct Action Day’ on August 16. Along with many of his comrades, Kamla’s eldest son 
Shashi went to donate blood for the victims of the riots. He died a few weeks later on 13th September after 
a brief illness. Coming within three years of our father’s death, this was a great shock to us all. But we did 
not at that time realise how much our mother must have suffered to see her first and most talented son die 
when he was not yet 25. Suhasini too was shattered and did not emerge out of her room for many days. In 
retrospect, one thought comes to mind: Shashi was a sportsman and a lover of physical exercise when he 
came to Bombay five or six years back. Was neglect of one’s health really a part of one’s revolutionary 
duty? However, as always, our mother suffered her loss silently. We, Shashi’s younger brothers and 
sisters, greatly felt the loss of our eldest brother, to whom we looked up as our friend, philosopher and guide 
in the new life we had chosen to live.



I was asked at the end of 1946 to join the office of the All-lndia FSU and assist R.M. Jambhekar, 
who was the general secretary of the All-lndia FSU, in running the office and the newly started monthly, the 
'Indo-Soviet Journal’.

Before his death, among his many other activities, Shashi found the time to act in a film called 
Azadi, directed by Harindranath Chattopadhyaya . He played the main role as a student leader. The then 
popular actress Vanmala played opposite him. I remember we went once to see the outdoor shooting. The 
film was completed but, like many other films in those days (and even now), could find no willing distributor 
and was never released. After Shashi’s death a special show was organised in a studio and some of us 
were able to see the film. It was a good film with a message and it is a pity it has remained unknown even 
to cinema historians and has been completely forgotten.

My sister Vimla had continued to study at the Wilson College where she soon got into the list of 
merited students, got a scholarship and did not have to pay any fees. After she passed her B.A. with 
Honours in Economics, she joined the School of Economics for her M.A. But she did not finish this course 
as the All India Students’ Federation selected her to go to Prague to work as India’s representative in the 
International Union of Students (IUS). She left on 14 June 1947.

Our younger sister Sarala had taken up nursing. She was selected to go to England on a 
scholarship for further studies after she had finished her nursing course in Bombay. She left on 8 August 
1947. She was on the boat to England on 15th August 1947 when India became independent and 
celebrated the event with other Indians on the seas, while Vimla celebrated it in Prague. For many months 
my mother was busy preparing for both her daughters’ overseas journey. She gave them her best saris and 
stitched blouses to go with them. She also got them some warm clothes for a climate very different from that 
of Bombay.

The youngest brother Rati had also finally got admission in the Grant Medical College in Bombay 
where he was studying for his MBBS degree.

My mother had continued to work with the Bombay FSU women’s section where she was a much 
respected figure, being the eldest amongst all the women. She also took a lot of interest teaching her 
students, especially Raja, the eldest, and the twins Ram and Lakshman of the Daga family, telling them 
stories and reading out poems to them.

While Nehru was still Vice-President of the pre-lndependence Interim Government, the first Asian 
Relations Conference was held on his initiative in Delhi from March 23 to April 2, 1947. The Jambhekars 
were invited to attend and they went to Delhi, where they met the first Soviet delegation from the Soviet 
Asian Republics which had come to attend the conference. I remember that when the delegation was 
leaving for home from the Santa Cruz airport in Bombay, quite a large number of 
FSU active workers spent the night, sleeping on the floor of our Santa Cruz residence, to get up early in the 
morning and march to the airport to bid the delegation farewell.

Then came 15th August 1947, which was observed with great joy by us all. I remember we 
marched, along with thousands of people of Bombay, throughout the previous night, singing patriotic songs. 
Among the banners and portraits we in the FSU carried was a portrait of Shashi, who was no longer there to 
see the freedom of which he had sung and for which he had fought. My two sisters, Vimla and Sarala, had 
also left for Europe. Of my mother’s five children only two were now in Bombay.

Towards the end of 1947 the Jambhekars also left for Europe. Their trip was intended to establish 
contact with VOKS (Soviet Society for Cultural Relations with Foreign Countries) and with societies of 
friendship and cultural relations with the Soviet Union in European countries. The FSU was doing very well 
all over India and its work was expanding. The Jambhekars went to Europe for a few months but soon 
events that followed in India made it impossible for them to return home until the winter of 1951.

India not only got its independence on 15th August 1947, the country was partitioned. Partition 
brought untold miseries to millions, forcing them to leave their ancestral homes and migrate across the new 
borders. Unprecedented communal unrest led to thousands being killed while they were leaving for an 
unknown future. Gandhiji was in East Bengal, trying to put out the flames of frenzied communal killings 
almost single-handedly. He did not take part in Independence Day celebrations. From there he came to 
Delhi, where he was assassinated on 30th January 1948, leaving the nation stunned.



Hardly a month later, the CPI at its Second Congress held in Calcutta in February-March 1948 
declared that on 15,h August 1947 India had noLgot its freedom, but the Indian bourgeoisie had betrayed 
the Indian people and struck a deal with British imperialism. A most sectarian and adventurous political line 
was adopted at the congress under the leadership of the new general secretary, B.T. Ranadive. P.C. Joshi, 
who had built up the Party since his release from the Meerut Conspiracy Case in 1936, was declared a 
‘reformist’ and was soon expelled from the Party. Most of the leaders went underground, others were 
arrested. The disastrous sectarian political line continued until an editorial in the Cominform journal at the 
end of January 1950 denounced it. In less than two years the membership of the Party was brought down 
from 89,000 (at the time of the Second Congress) to 20,000.

Among the many arrested and detained in January 1950 were Kamla's youngest son Rati, her 
brother-in-law Madan Bakaya and her future daughter-in-law Kamal Kamat.

Meanwhile, in April 1949 I fell ill with the many years’ old TB that had never been diagnosed and 
had now spread to both the lungs. After many weeks of waiting for admission in the only TB hospital in 
Bombay while undergoing treatment at home, I was finally admitted to hospital where I spent two months 
and came out with strict instructions for following up the treatment. During these two months my mother 
came from Santa Cruz to the TB hospital in Sewri, quite a long way off, to see me during visiting hours 
practically every single day.

During late summer my mother took leave from her work and came with me to Bhowali to settle 
me there in a small rented block, since getting admitted to the Bhowali TB sanatorium was out of the 
question. A servant was hired and trained to cook and look after me. After about a month, my mother 
returned to Bombay. In those days a number of doctors from ll.P. used to come to Bhowali during the 
summer months to treat TB patients privately. I was sent a monthly allowance to cover my expenses of 
living and treatment in Bhowali by my aunt in Bareilly. I learnt later that my mother had paid for this by 
disposing of much of her jewellery which had remained with her and which she was saving for her 
daughters.

The FSU team in Bombay, in spite of the loss of Shashi and the long absence of the Jambhekars, 
their senior leaders, carried on for many months and the organisation worked more or less normally, until 
the Calcutta Congress line started gradually affecting it too. Their monthly journal was ’transferred’ to the 
Party headquarters and turned into a fortnightly as a substitute for the Party weeklies that had been banned. 
An underground girl student leader was sent to live in our house incognito and my mother had to look after 
her as well, while she was there, pretending she was a visiting relative. My mother visited my younger 
brother Rati in Arthur Road Jail whenever possible. The FSU women’s group had no function in those 
’revolutionary’ times and remained passive.

After about three months in jail and consequent to the collapse of the sectarian line, my brother 
Rati was released along with other detainees, so also were Kamal Kamat and Madan Bakaya. Fortunately, 
the Grant Medical College allowed Rati to rejoin, and he was able to resume his M.B.B.S. course.

Most communist detainees were released later in 1950. The FSU active workers got together to 
take stock of the state of affairs in their organisation and decide what to do in order to revive it. Unlike many 
other organisations, the FSU team had remained more or less intact. Prolonged discussions were held for 
several weeks in late evenings to chalk out the future course. The Jambhekars also returned in early 1951 
and found that the younger generation had already come to unanimous conclusions about the future of the 
movement. Meanwhile, the delegation of prominent scientists, writers and artistes, led by Dr. A.V. Baliga 
and Harindranath Chattopadhyaya, invited by VOKS to spend more than a month in the Soviet Union, had 
returned. Dr. Baliga was amongst the foremost surgeons of the country. He had given shelter to many 
underground leaders during the 1942 movement, including Aruna Asaf Ali. There was much rethinking going 
on in all political parties after independence. Aruna Asaf Ali visited the Soviet Union in 1950 and had 
prolonged discussions with Soviet professors A.M. Dyakov and V.V. Balabushevich at the VOKS. In her 
turn she told these eminent academcians that their assessments of Gandhi and Nehru had often been 
wrong. On her return she persuaded Dr. Baliga to go to the USSR and see things for himself.

The VOKS invited in 1951 a delegation of prominent Indians led by Dr. Baliga to visit and tour the 
USSR. Other members included Delhi scientist Dr. J.J.Chenoy, Calcutta physician Dr. Barada Ukil, poet



Harindranath Chattopadhyaya, writer Bhabani Bhattacharya, journalists Rana Jung Bahadur Singh and 
Sham Lal and dancer Chandralekha.

On his return Dr. Baliga was welcomed at the airport by A.M. Shirali and myself on behalf of the 
FSU. We asked for an appointment and soon met him in his clinic. He told us that while in Moscow he had 
extensive discussions with leaders of VOKS and he felt that a new non-political cultural organisation should 
be started, rather than trying to revive the FSU. It should reflect the reciprocal character of Indo-Soviet 
cultural relations. For this a Preparatory Committee of prominent Bombay citizens for the organisation of an 
Indo-Soviet Convention and Cultural Festival was set up under Dr. Baliga’s leadership.

I had recovered from my illness sufficiently to be able to take active part in this work and was 
appointed one of the secretaries of the Preparatory Committee, the other secretary being my friend and old 
FSU colleague A.M. Shirali. Dr. Baliga was one of the top surgeons of the country and had wide social 
contacts. He was not one of those prominent people who ‘lend their name to a cause’ while others ‘run the 
show1. He was comparatively young at 47 years of age, and with his great prestige and numerous friends 
and admirers he was able to inspire other members of the Preparatory Committee with his clear thinking, 
foresight and extraordinary energy. At ground level the entire team of FSU workers enthusiastically worked 
for the success of the new venture.

After several months of work the festival and convention was finally held in mid-March 1952. A 
Soviet delegation led by prominent poet Nikolai Tikhonov attended. Among its members was the popular 
Azerbaijanian singer Rashid Beibutov, who won the hearts of the large audiences by his melodious voice 
and his Azerbaijanian, Russian and Hindi songs. Dr. M.R. Jayakar, Vice-Chancellor of Poona University and 
a well-known Liberal leader of the Gandhian era, inaugurated the convention and festival. Many prominent 
artistes, dancers and singers took part in the festival and performed before packed audiences. On March 
14, 1952 the Indo-Soviet Cultural Society came into being. And its National Council elected. Dr. Baliga was 
elected President, Vice-Presidents were Dr. V.K.R.V. Rao, Harindranath Chattopadhyaya, Mrs. D.R.D. 
Wadia and poet Vallathol.

In an editorial entitled ‘Towards New Horizons’ the ‘Indo-Soviet Journal,’ organ of the AIFSU bid 
farewell to its readers and well-wishers and asked them to join the new organisation and make it successful.

My mother was happy and attended the main public functions and cultural programmes of the 
ISCUS festival and convention. She was also happy that though I was elected a member of the ISCUS 
National Council and its Executive Committee, in view of my health I did not take upon myself more 
demanding work as an office bearer.

In the next few years all Kamla’s four children got married one by one.
In April 1952 my sister Vimla got married in Bombay to an old comrade and friend, Satya Pal Dang. 

She worked for a short time in an advertising agency but she and her husband decided in 1954 to go to 
Punjab where they settled down in the small suburban area of Chheharta near Amritsar and devoted 
themselves to work among the working class. They settled down in a working class area where they began 
living like any other working class family. My mother was very attached to Vimla and she was happy her 
older daughter had found a life’s companion.

Her main concern now was to see that I got good treatment for tuberculosis. Soon the VOKS 
invited me come to the USSR for medical treatment. But getting a passport to travel to the Soviet Union in 
those days was not easy, especially for members of the CPI. Indian passports in those days had the legend 
stamped on them ‘Valid for all countries of Europe, except the USSR'. Tuberculosis was considered almost 
an incurable disease then in India. It needed lifelong treatment and periodic rest in the hills for those who 
could afford it. In our own family, two of my father’s sisters, had died of TB at a young age. Many of us in 
those days had great trust in the Soviet medical system and thought Soviet doctors could cure almost any 
disease. Dr. Baliga had also come back greatly impressed by the achievements of Soviet medicine. When I 
asked him, he said that he did not think the Soviet Union had any miracle cure for TB, but “their sanatoriums 
are excellent and a few months of treatment and rest there will do you a world of good.'

At this time my unde G.K. Handoo (husband of my mother’s younger sister Kishan Handoo) who 
was a top-ranking IPS officer and Deputy Director of the IB (forerunner of RAW), wrote to my mother that if I 
wanted to go to Russia only for treatment, he could help me with a passport. He sent me the application



form, which I sent back to him duly filled in with photographs etc. We were surprised that I received a 
passport within a week from Delhi. In mid-1952 my mother and other family members and friends bid me 
good bye. I wanted to go via Delhi and Kabul, a more economical route than via Europe. So I arrived in 
Delhi and put up with my uncle Madan Bakaya, who stayed with his brother-in-law at Tees Hazari. When I 
went to the Soviet Embassy for a visa, I learnt to my dismay that my passport was endorsed only for the 
USSR and not for Pakistan and Afghanistan and I needed transit visas from both these countries. So I gave 
my passport for necessary endorsement. Delhi had no buses in those days and I used to go to Connaught 
Place every day on a cycle with Madan Bakaya, who had taken charge of the PPH bookshop on what is 
now Baba Kharak Singh Marg but in those days was a refugee market with a few makeshift shops and 
many dhabas. This was just to pass the time as I had nothing to do at home. We used to cycle back in the 
evening. Summer had set in and one night I woke up to spit quite a lot of blood, indicating a relapse of my 
illness.

Meanwhile, my uncle G.K. Handoo discovered that my name was listed in police records among 
those who were not to be issued passports. So my aunt came and broke the news and said that nothing 
more could now be done and I should return to Bombay. An air ticket was bought for me by the night Dakota 
service to return to Bombay. (It cost about a hundred rupees or so.) And thus I came back to Bombay!

My mother was not ready to give up so easily. A relative of hers, Prof.P.N. Kathju, who was 
married to Kamla Nehru’s sister, had written to her that he could help me with a passport, when he came to 
learn about my illness. Prof. Kathju was not only closely related to my mother on her mother’s side but was 
also a childhood friend. So my mother now wrote to him. He told her later that he personally met Pt. Nehru 
and reminded him that when Kamla Nehru was seriously ill with tuberculosis and had been taken to 
Europe for treatment, the British Government had released him from prison to be with her. Pt. Nehru 
intervened and wrote to Dr. K.N. Kathju, the Home Minister, and soon I got a new passport, duly endorsed 
for all countries of Europe, including the USSR!

In July 1953 I was able to leave for Moscow, this time via Europe, directly from Bombay. I spent 
over seven months in two Soviet sanatoriums and returned via London, where I met my sister Sarala and 
her husband Robin and other friends and spent several weeks. Since I was advised not to travel by air by 
the Soviet doctors, I came back to Bombay by boat. In the Soviet Union, apart from regaining my health, I 
made a serious attempt to learn Russian. My mother was happy that her efforts to get me a passport had 
brought about positive results.

I continued to work actively in the ISCUS. But now I had also to look for some avenue of earning a 
living. I soon got a number of tuitions in the Soviet Trade Representation and the 'SovexportfilnT to teach 
some of their employees English. I also took up translation work from Russian. In ISCUS I was invited to 
run certificate and diploma classes in Russian which I did in an honorary capacity and I taught there for over 
five years. Since Russian was not taught in India anywhere except in Delhi University, where it had been 
started during wartime, ISCUS classes in Bombay attracted many students. (Teaching is the best way of 
learning a language. I was often asked to do interpretation work whenever Russian delegations arrived in 
Bombay. In 1960 I was selected lecturer in Russian at the IIT Bombay, where I taught technical Russian for 
over seven years, before moving to the Institute of Russian Studies in July 1967. The IRS joined JNU, 
when the University was started in 1969.)

The younger daughter Sarala had got married at the end of 1953 in London to Robin Kumar 
Basu, a friend who was doing a course in printing technology in Leeds. They visited India when their first 
child was about a year old. My mother was happy to see them and her first grandson.

In 19551 got married to Kamal Kamat.
Another chapter was to start of my mother’s life. She was now free of the responsibilities of looking 

after her children. They had all grown up and had found work Three of them were married. In May 1955 her 
youngest son Rati passed his MBBS examination and in February 1958 he got married to Ramala Kapoor, a 
fellow doctor in the Grant Medical College. But my mother’s responsibilities were far from being over. Both 
her parents were still alive and lived with her brother Dr. C.M. Aga in Bareilly. My aunt (Dr. Aga’s wife, who 
had done her M.A. in Sanskrit and was a contemporary and friend of poet Mahadevi Varma in Allahabd 
University, had suddenly lost her eyesight, and soon after she lost her hearing too. My grandmother was ill.

in



So a call came from Bareilly to my mother to come and help look after her parents. She left for Bareilly 
sometime in 1956.

Soon after her arrival in Bareilly the word got round that a highly qualified and experienced 
Montessori teacher had arrived in the city. She was invited to open a school and look after it as its principal. 
And thus she once again resumed her favourite profession of teaching young children. She became head of 
a small institution, the Vishnu Bal Sadan. She was now working in a Hindi-speaking area. One after 
another, many of her new poems for small children were born. As in Lahore and Bombay, the poems were 
read out to the children and they enjoyed immensely listening to them and reciting some of them. My 
mother never thought of herself as a great poet and never thought of getting her poems published. They 
were written, often in pencil, in her school exercise books, or simply on pieces of paper.

Unfortunately, the dates of writing are not there, except on a very few occasions. One of her oldest 
poems is 'Kyon?1, meant for older children. Many of her shorter poems were written during her school years 
in Bareilly and are meant for smaller children, Aas all children in Vishnu Bal Sadan were beginners.

After she shifted to Bareilly, we visited her and our grandparents, who had also shifted to Bareilly 
from Allahabad some years after my grandfather retired, from time to time. My uncle’s house took over the 
role of my grandfather’s, and became the place visited by a large number of relatives and so we met many 
of our childhood friends there during the summer vacations. My mother also visited us and stayed with us in 
Bombay. She came to look after our house and our two small children for almost a year in 1969-1970, when 
Kamal went to Moscow for a ten-month Russian teachers’ training course.

At the end of September 1971 my mother went to England to spend some time with my younger 
brother Rati, who was then living and working in Manchester. As I too had to go to Moscow to earn a Ph.D. 
at that time, we travelled together up to Moscow by an Air India flight which went to London via Moscow. In 
1972 summer and 1973 winter I visited my mother and my brother during the summer and winter breaks I 
got. She was not very well when I saw her last in 1973, but her grave illness had not been diagnosed. She 
died of cancer on 5th August 1973. My sister Vimla had travelled to England to see her during her last days. 
Sarala, my other sister, was also with her; she and her husband Robin lived and worked in Leeds in those 
days. So, out of her surviving four children three were with her, as also her younger sister, Kishan Handoo, 
who had travelled from India to see her.

A few months before her death she wrote to my aunt Sushila Ganjoo in Kanpur, a letter in which 
she asked her to distribute her meagre assets—some jewellery and her old brass pandaan among her 
children and some others in the family. Sushila Masi sent me a copy of her letter. It is a moving document, 
showing her concern for others even when she was herself seriously ill. But the most valuable of her assets 
were her poems and these should at last reach the children of this country.

A remarkable feature of her poems is their extraordinarily expressive language. It is close to the 
simple spoken language current in her time in places like Lucknow and Allahabad and spoken by Kashmiri 
Pandits outside Kashmir. It contains words of both Sanskrit and Persian origin, and was called ’Hindustani’- 
-a name Gandhiji wanted to give India’s principal link language. Kamla’s expression is notable for its 
spontaneity and the effortless flow of words. The imagery comes prominently from a child’s thinking; it is 
natural—at times joyful and playful and at other times sad and thoughtful. Her poems reflect the wonder, joy, 
inquisitiveness and the innocent sadness of a child’s mind.

Though many of her poems reflect patriotic sentiments and a keen desire for a just and humane 
social order, they are not dry and didactic, but spontaneous and the product of a deeply sensitive mind. 
Kamla’s patriotism is genuine love for her country and its people, and her quest for social justice is a quest 
of good triumphing over evil.

My mother’s ashes were brought to Delhi by my aunt. The urn containing my father’s ashes had 
been kept in our house all these years. Both my parents’ ashes were immersed in the Yamuna together 
some time later.



21 July 2005

85 Kala Vihar, Mayur Vihar Phase I 
Delhi 110091

My dear Vimla,
At last I have your letter of the 13th yesterday evening and I know my other letters 

reached you. I shall certainly write to Chander Kishoreji after you move from their house.
Re. Your book, a copy of the edited version will be sent to you as soon as it is 

ready and it will be printed only after you have okayed it. In the edited version you will 
notice.

1. The language corrected in some places. This is done with the most prominent 
writers too as all writers need sub-editors. For instance all the versions of the 
so-called Lenin quotation (it is not Lenin’s but of the young Soviet writer N. 
Ostrovsky’s from his book ‘How the Steel was Tempered’), that 1 have 
received from Amritsar has the word ‘scared’ instead of the correct ‘seared’, 
an unusual word used by the translator which means ‘burned’. In the context it 
means ‘deeply feel’ ‘deeply regret’.

2. Some factual errors corrected. For instance, ‘Dawn over Samarkand’ was not 
written by Anna Louise Strong, of this 1 am sure. I have been trying to find the 
name of the original writer, but so far I have not succeeded. I found it in a 
Hindi book, but it is so mutilated in Hindi script that I cannot decipher it. 
Similarly, Shashi’s poem ‘The Ruin’ was not about the house collapse. That 
poem was called The House Collapse. ‘The Ruin’ is about the change brought 
about in the poet’s thinking as a result of his contact with the common people, 
“I, who belonged nowhere, possessed of a people.” It is difficult to find all the 
original references, but I am trying my hardest. About one famous singer of 
those years you write his name as Mama Warerkar, when actually he was 
Mama Phansalkar. Warerker was a Marathi writer and an office bearer of the 
Bombay FSU.

3. Re. Suhasini, you need not worry. I am trying to give some details about her 
either in my Afterword or in an Appendix. Also about Virendranath 
Chattopadhyaya and A.C.N. Nambiar (Suhasini’s first husband).

4. Since your story remains incomplete, some essential facts will be given either 
in the Introduction (by Prem Singhji) or in the Afterword. For this your 
interview recently printed in Nawan Zamana will be useful for factual matter.

The book will essentially consist of the Introduction, the main story by you, and 
an Afterword. The Introduction and Afterword will be as short as possible. I think some 
photographs should also go into it.

You have to send me the real names, where they are not clear. Those which you 
don’t feel like giving need not be given.

I am enclosing a note I have just finished yesterday about Bhabhi. This is for the 
JNU professor and writer who is writing an Introduction to her poems. Please see it and
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also show it to Satpal Bhai. More on hearing from you. With love to you and Satpal Bhai 
from Kamal and me.
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FRAGMENTS OF AN AUTOBIOGRAPHY 
By Vimla Dang

Rashmi’s school days
Rashmi had just matriculated and joined Kinnaird College. She was hardly fifteen. She 

had come from Sir Ganga Ram School which under the brilliant guidance and leadership of 
Mrinalim Chattopadhyay, Sarojini Naidu's younger sister, had become the leading girls' 
institution of Lahore, known not only for its high educational standard but also for the spirit of 
patriotism it instilled in the minds of its young students. Rashmi wondered what she would be 
able to do in a Christian college, with its missionary teachings and Western outlook. She 
remembered with pride her glorious school days.

Rashmi loved sports as a child. When Mrs. Kapur, newly arrived from the Baroda 
Institute of Physical Education, introduced yogic exercises, /athi, lezium, mugdars etc. in the 
school. Rashmi was simply fascinated. She soon became the sports captain. They had a special 
uniform for sports, blue shorts, a white shirt and an orange necktie. The girls looked very smart in 
this uniform. Rashmi was very fond of Mrs. Kapur. Once, Mrs. Kapur took her to a physical 
activities show. Rashmi saw young girls with bandaged eyes taking aim with their bows and 
arrows. She was very' astonished and thought these girls were very brave. She also wanted to be 
like them. She tried very hard, and soon excelled everyone else in yogic exercises. She could 
even perform the most difficult of them - shirshasana. During the preparations for the annual 
prize distribution. Rashmi wanted very’ much to participate in the dance performances. But she 
did not have the white frilled frock required for the performance. Her parents could not afford to 
give her a new frock. Rashmi felt most annoyed with everyone and thought with great bitterness 
that she could have got a new frilled frock made had her parents been a little better off. She felt 
sad and dejected to the point of tears. However, at the prize distribution she won a silver cup for 
her best record in sports.

Rashmi loved music too. Her father had a taste for classical music, and would take 
Rashmi along with him to musical recitals. But it was tragic that she developed tonsillitis, and 
consequently had a hoarse voice. Still, she used to stand first in music examinations in school.

How patriotism grows
When Miss Chattopadhyay became principal of the Ganga Ram School, she introduced 

many new ideas. Rashmi was greatly excited with the idea of a wall- newspaper, and she became 
a member of the editorial committee of the school wall- newspaper, ‘Forward*. The school started 
celebrating national days like Gandhiji’s birthday on 2nd October and Independence Day on 26lh 
January'. Rashmi also composed songs. She composed her first song dedicated to Mahatma 
Gandhi, which she sang on 2nd October, 1940.

But the same evening, poor Rashmi got a shock when her principal asked her to sing the 
song before a gathering in her house. One of the women jokingly remarked, “You better tell your 
Gandhi Baba to change his ideology.’' Although said in a joke, this remark led Rashmi to think 
deeply. The woman who said this was Suhasini, Sarojini Naidu's youngest sister, who had a 
most striking personality. Suddenly, Rashmi heard her deep voice singing, “The people's flag is 
deepest red'' and “Utho jago. bhukhe bandit” Rashmi was stirred by these powerful and 
inspiring songs, which lit in her the burning fire of patriotism. She noticed that the singer's face 
turned red and her eyes almost spat fire as she sang these songs and raised her clenched fist to 
show her determination to fight for freedom.

Revolutionary ideas are created



Suhasini was invited to address the matriculation class before the preparatory leave for 
the final examinations. Rashmi was very happy to see her. Suhasini read out to them the story of 
Khoziat from the famous book ‘Dawn Over Samarkand’. Rashmi heard the story of this brave 
Muslim girl with rapt attention, the girl who had borne brutal tortures but who had put up a brave 
fight for her social liberation. Later, the Soviet Revolution freed Khoziat from the social bondage 
into which her young life had been imprisoned. Thus Rashmi heard for the first time about the 
Russian Revolution and what it had done for women.

Suhasini lived in Bombay, but she paid frequent visits to her sister Mrilanini in Lahore. 
In Ganga Ram School she met Rashmi's mother and father, and one evening came to their house 
Here, Rashmi's elder brothers Sukesh and Rakesh were introduced to her. Sukesh was about 20 
years old and was very talented He was a poet, but he hardly ever showed his verses to anyone. 
Suhasini soon made friends w ith both the boys and invited Sukesh to come to Bombay for further 
study, after his graduation.

A very shy, quiet and serious person. Sukesh got the real opportunity for self-expression 
and development of his talent in Bombay. He was a brilliant student of literature, and at a ven 
young age wrote lyrics, sonnets and ballads in English. But at this time his poems w'erc romantic, 
quite different from what his later poems became. In Bombay, he started w riting patriotic and 
revolutionary poems on every' aspect of our national life and struggle. He came in contact with 
the student's movement of Bombay and by 1943 he had helped in building up the Friends of the 
Soviet Union (FSU) movement in Bombay.

In 1942, when the Communist Party became legal, Rashmi's other brother Rakesh also 
went to Bombay for a month dunng his vacation. Both the brothers talked politics at home. The 
Second World War was on and there were discussions about international events and the progress 
on the war fronts in every house. Rashmi heard these talks about the war, the capitulation of 
Czechoslovakia. Hitler's invasion of the USSR, and so on.

Rashmi's younger sister Anju was an expert cook. Sometimes when Suhasini came for 
dinner, Anju cooked the most delicious dishes. Suhasini praised her cooking. She used to call 
Anju The Lighthouse' and Rashmi's mother "Honoured Mother’, as a compliment for bringing 
up her children so well. Rashmi was not good at cooking. She did all the cleaning up of rooms, 
the dusting of books and furniture. In fact, she suffered from an inferiority complex, because she 
could not cook, and because her own work at home was never noticed. From the very beginning 
the division of w ork at home had been such that Rashmi had looked after the cleaning and 
tidying up of the house, and Anju, the kitchen. Apart from this, Rashmi soon became preoccupied 
with political work. And thus she remained behind in learning to cook.

In 1942, with the help of Rakesh and Sukesh, the Birdwood Road FSU Group was started 
in Rashmi’s house. The children set apart a separate room for this, which they called "the studio.' 
The shabby walls, the broken floor and the dirty-looking doors and windows were all soon 
covered with beautiful khadi curtains, sheets and multi-coloured cushions. Rakesh repainted the 
furniture. Rashmi's youngest brother Rati painted some beautiful pictures. Suhasini used to come 
regularly to see how' the building of the studio was progressing. She gave an impressive portrait 
of Lenin to the group. It was placed in the centre of the mantle-piece, nicely framed. Thus, the 
first active FSU centre was started in Lahore. Rashmi, like the other children, felt that something 
very great was happening to them all. Suhasini talked to all the children individually and gave 
them real solid lectures, creating in them a great urge for self-cultivation and self-improvement 
She told them what the USSR stood for, what sacrifices the Soviet people had made, what they 
had achieved. Rashmi thought with pride that some day their country would also become like the 
USSR and be rid of squalor and poverty, backwardness and illiteracy. The USSR symbolised for 
them not only a socialist country, but a land with the most honest, sincere, hard-working and 
courageous people, who had borne tremendous difficulties and overcome obstacles boldly and 
w ho had made their once backward country into one of the most advanced states of the w'orld.
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The FSU group started a wall-newspaper at home in which appeared articles not merely 
of a political nature, but also covering domestic problems. Rashmi's mother also wrote for it, 
making suggestions to the children about various aspects of home life. Rashmi's two cousin 
sisters and an uncle joined the group and 7-B Birdwood Road became a lively centre of young 
people, who were aspiring to achieve something very significant.

The children sang songs composed by Sukesh and by Rashmi's mother and by numerous 
other people, and gradually they set up their own singing squad.

By 1942, Rashmi noticed a number of people coming to their studio, people dressed in 
brown khadi and carrying books in sling bags. They were all Sukesh's and Rakesh's friends, 
belonging to the ‘Renaissance Club,' the ‘Students Federation,’ the ‘Civil Liberties Union' and 
the 'Literary League.’ Rashmi thought they were all revolutionaries. Their looks, the expression 
on their faces, their attire—everything impressed her. But, as yet she did not know what kind of 
work they did. It was all a mystery to her.

On 7lh November 1942, the anniversary' of the Great Soviet Revolution, the FSU group 
was invited to take part in a public function. Rashmi was one of the active members of the 
cultural group. They sang songs dedicated to the great Lenin. Other friends performed a play on 
the story of the Red Flag. Rashmi now began to understand something about the activities of the 
revolutionaries.

In December 1942 Rashmi was introduced to a group of women comrades and asked to 
attend study circles. She attended some. Soon she was asked to do some active work. She started 
work among the women of an area situated in the heart of the walled city in Bhati Gate. By now 
Rakesh and Rashmi had both started going to meetings. Together with work among women, 
Rashmi started work in the students' movement in her college and started visiting the office of 
the Students’ Union. She became an active member of the cultural squad.

And so, from a life full of social restrictions, entirely confined to the walls of the house, 
Rashmi began to experience a sense of social liberation. She thought that her family was amongst 
the luckiest in the world. The girls mixed freely with the boys, attended meetings and other 
programmes. They went to pictures, exhibitions and cultural shows. For Rashmi this was entirely 
a different life, a new life, a life of constant struggle, of constantly aspiring to achieve something. 
Outside the home there were various types of political activities, students' debates, study circles, 
rallies and demonstrations for students' demands, campaigns for strengthening Hindu-Muslim 
unity, cultural programmes and so on.

A tragic happening
Suddenly, something very tragic happened in Rashmi's family A cable came from 

London (where Rashmi's father had gone in 1940 to work in the BBC Hindustani Section), that 
her father was ill and his condition was grave. The next day another cable arrived, announcing his 
death. It was a great shock to the family, because they were expecting him to return that very 
y ear. He had bought a gramophone, a radio, books and furniture, and was awaiting permission to 
return home. Rashmi was stunned, for she loved her father deeply. Her heart broke to see her 
mother taking off her bangles, her carrings and other ornaments. A deep gloom was cast upon the 
whole family. For days people kept coming to the house to express their condolences. Rashmi's 
women comrades also came and they brought the greatest sympathy to everyone.

By now the ideas of the family had changed radically—they did not want to observe the 
old customs and rituals. Rashmi's maternal uncle came from Bareilly and took her mother away 
for a few days. The children were now left by themselves. Some relations and acquaintances of 
the family indulged in a lot of gossip and scandal-mongering, making baseless accusations 
against Rashmi's mother for her leaving suddenly, without completing all the customarv rituals. 
But the children paid no heed. Rashmi missed her father terribly in her lonely moments. She 
wondered all the time how he would have felt had he returned home to see his family so 
completely transformed.
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The Civil Disobedience Movement in the early twenties had affected Rashmi's father. He 
was to appear for his M.A. examination when martial law was declared in Punjab. In the police 
action that preceded the episode of Jallianwalla Bagh, spots of blood had fallen on his achkan. 
Rashmi’s grandmother hurriedly burnt the clothes for fear that her son might be arrested But the 
naked repression let loose by the White police created a burning hatred in Rashmi's father’s heart 
against the British regime. And for twenty long years after these events he refused to take up 
government service. He had five children, but he earned his living by giving tuitions. It was at a 
very late stage of his life that he accepted work as a 'casual artiste’ in the All India Radio. He w as 
an idealist. He w7as a scholar of English and was very fond of dramatic and cultural activities 
Rashmi's mother had been to Europe in 1931-1932 for studies and had come back w ith a diploma 
in Montessori training. Rashmi's father also wanted to go abroad and see Europe. He had so 
many dreams. He loved Rashmi 's mother. And Rashmi felt that even after so many years of their 
married life, her parents appeared to be young and very much in love with each other. Of course, 
there were sometimes minor quarrels, mostly the result of financial troubles. But these were 
quarrels that occurred in even- Indian family. Rashmi's mother had never liked the idea of her 
husband going abroad during wartime. She had an instinctive feeling that he would never come 
back.

A month later, the family again reassembled and normal life was resumed. Just then 
Rashmi's grandparents on her father's side, aunts and other relatives arrived and settled down in 
their house. But the children did not like the idea of their permanently settling down in their 
house. At last Rakesh mustered up courage, and one day spoke to them frankly. A scene 
followed, but they soon separated and went to live in another house. Rashmi's two cousin sisters 
stayed back in the Birdwood Road house, despite their mother’s protest. For, how- could they go 
back to their old life now'? A whole series of baseless slanders started spreading, and one of 
Rashmi's aunts even spread the rumour that something very dangerous, like making bombs and 
explosives, w7as going on at Birdwood Road. But no one paid any heed. It was impossible for old 
ideas to get reconciled w ith new ideas. It w7as difficult for those w'ho had seen light to go back to 
live in darkness. So there was a final break w ith the old life.

Rashmi now started working with renewed vigour. In the college she would have heated 
discussions with her Congress friends, KauShaland others, about the policies of the Congress, 
their vacillating stand on the Hindu-Muslim question. She contested the election for class 
representative and won against another girl with Anglo-Indian ideas. Together with some others’ 
students, Rashmi mitiated an agitation against compulsory Bible classes. Outside her college, she 
w as put in charge of the Bhati Gate area, w7here she helped in forming a branch of the Women’s 
Self-Defence League.

In May 1943 the First Congress of the Communist Party of India took place at Bombay. 
Rashmi w7as asked to go to Bombay with the Punjab cultural squad. She wanted to go, but was 
afraid of Rakesh. She thought he w'ould oppose her going to the congress. But Rakesh showed a 
sympathetic understanding and Rashmi was able to go.

Rashmi at the First CPI Congress
Members of the Punjab delegation w'ere travelling in the same compartment Rashmi was 

the youngest of them all. She w as excited about her trip but she was too young to understand the 
political implications of such an important congress, that w7as taking place after so many years of 
illegality7 of the Communist Party. Travelling with them was Baba Sohan Singh Bhakna, the 70- 
ycar old revolutionary, whose back was bent due to long years of imprisonment, suffering and 
sacrifice. Rashmi looked at his long white beard and his wrinkled face with great admiration and 
thought of all the work he had done in the Ghadar Party. She wanted to know more about the 
Ghadar Party and study its history7. Discussions went on in the train on many other issues.

Rashmi noticed that amongst the younger people in the compartment there was 
Sukanta, a provincial student leader, who went on reading newspapers and documents all the time
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and did not speak much with anyone. Someone told Rashmi that he was a very studious and hard­
working comrade. There were other older comrades like Sohan Singh Josh, Teja Singh 
Swantantar, and a group of women. Rashmi herself remained with the women most of the time.

The congress was a unique experience for Rashmi. She was in Bombay for the first time. 
A big city, with wide roads and tall buildings touching the sky, it presented an impressive 
spectacle The busy traffic, the numerous buses and trams and, above all, the electric trains, 
showed Bombay’s inexpensive yet efficient transport system Rashmi was impressed to see the 
very neat and clean restaurants at every corner. She was fascinated by the sea. She attended the 
delegates' session of the congress as a visitor, for she was just a member of the Punjab cultural 
squad. She made serious efforts to follow the proceedings of the congress and could understand 
something. She was interested to see delegates from so many provinces, to hear their languages 
and their songs. Here was a part of her country, representing the diversity of Indian languages and 
culture. To Rashmi the delegates appeared to represent the cream of patriots, for many of them 
had suffered years of imprisonment and lived an underground life. Comrades related to the 
Kayyur martyrs, who were mercilessly hanged by the British rulers, were also there. Rashmi 
listened carefully to the thesis presented by B.T.Ranadivc (BTR) and the subsequent speeches of 
Dr. Gangadhar Adhikari ('Doe’) and P C.Joshi. She was introduced to Amir Haider Khan and 
Saj jad Zaheer, as the sister of the young poet Sukesh.

Rashmi spent quite some time in the congress exhibition and tried to learn about the 
history of India's struggle for freedom. She saw the story of the series of movements of her 
people in pictures and paintings. She felt very proud when among the young poets she saw the 
photograph of her brother Sukesh. Rashmi developed a great respect for Sukesh from that 
moment. Later, during the Festival of Culture held in the evenings, she noticed that Sukesh had 
composed a large number of Hindi songs. Rashmi participated in the Punjabi programme. But 
she was most impressed by the performance of the Bengali squad, led by Benoy Roy, and 
especially by their guerrilla song ‘Hoi, hoi. hoi! ’ and the song ‘Phiraya de de de moder kayyur 
bandhu de re!' dedicated to the Kayyur martyrs The Maharashtrian squad performed the 
inspiring Urdu song ''Yeh Jang hai jang-e-azadi. azadi ke parcham ke taley. ’ composed by poet 
Makhdoom Mohiyuddin of Hyderabad.

Rashmi gets acquainted with Sukanta
Rashmi was having tea one day when Sukanta came to her and asked her for some facts 

about the work of the girl students of Lahore. She gave him the information, and that was the first 
time she talked to him. Sukanta quietly left.

In Bombay Rashmi spent a whole day w ith Sukesh and Suhasini. She had carried with 
her a letter from Rakesh to Suhasini, informing her that he was now’ going to be taken into the 
Party. Suhasini explained many things to Rashmi. and came to see her off at the station when she 
was leaving.

On her return to Lahore Rashmi was asked to sign the form and join the Party officially. 
Rakesh was not very happy at the idea of her joining so soon, and even opposed it, saying that she 
was too young and did not understand the full implications of joining the Party’. But the local 
comrades just insisted, and thus Rashmi became a full-fledged Party member.

Rashmi passed her Intermediate examination and joined the third year. She was elected a 
member of the Current Events Society from her college. The society invited Arun Bose to speak 
at a gathering of students on the initiative of Rashmi. Arun Bose came w ith Sukanta. When they 
entered the hall, they were very surprised to see the whole gathering singing national songs. Arun 
said, "This is quite inconceivable in a missionary’ college!” Rashmi quietly remarked that the 
atmosphere had changed a lot even in missionary’ colleges.

Later, Arun Bose spoke at the Students' Party School. Rashmi was the only regular girl 
student to attend the school. Here she heard Sukanta speaking on various students’ problems, and 
she developed a liking for him. Sukanta was rather too simple in his appearance and most careless
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about his dress and looks. But he was undoubtedly the most outstanding person for Rashmi. She 
admired the way he argued out his points and convinced others and she developed a great respect 
for his work. She noticed that Sukanta took a sympathetic interest in her work and he seemed to 
be very helpful. Once, it got very late when the lecture at the school ended. Someone had to 
escort Rashmi to her house. To her great pleasure Sukanta offered to go with her. Rashmi asked 
him many questions. “Why do comrades quarrel when they differ with one another? Why did 
Sunder stage a walkout? Should communists behave in this way?” Sukanta answered all her 
questions. Then, all of a sudden, she asked, "Who is there to point out my mistakes and criticise 
me so that 1 may also learn to improve myself?” Sukanta put his hand softly on Rashmi s 
shoulder and said, “I am there. I will help you.” Then Rashmi knew that Sukanta will always 
help her.

At home, Rakesh started helping Rashmi a lot. Together they studied several chapters of 
the 'History of the CPSU (B)’. Rashmi would read and Rakesh would explain to her everything. 
A school was organised for all women workers. Rashmi attended that too.

The Great Bengal Famine
A terrible famine broke out in Bengal in 1943. The AH India Students Federation (A1SF) 

decided to send students' squads to Bengal from all over the country. Sukanta came to Rashmi s 
house and told her that she too had been selected to go.

The delegation from Punjab consisted of four students, and Rashmi was one of them. 
Sukanta was the senior most among them. Before their departure they had collected a large 
bundle of old clothes for the famine-stricken. Rashmi kept the bundle with her in the women's 
compartment. Sukanta came to see Rashmi at several stations when the train stopped, to enquire 
if she needed anything. At one station the train stopped for over half an hour. Rashmi took the 
opportunity to discuss a few of the problems with Sukanta relating to difficulties girl student 
comrades and women comrades faced. Sukanta gave his own opinion, and she was very happy to 
find that they both agreed on the issue.

The train reached Calcutta after two days. Here, squads composed of students 
from different provinces were formed. Rashmi was a little disappointed to learn that she was not 
put in the same squad with Sukanta. Before their departure from Calcutta, Sukanta came to see 
Rashmi and he gave her two cakes of Lifebuoy soap which were to be used in the famine- 
stricken areas where epidemics had broken out. Rashmi took them and greatly appreciated 
Sukanta s feeling of consideration for her.

Rashmi s squad went to Rangpur District, the home town of Benoy Roy, leader 
of the Bengal cultural troupe. His sister Reba Roy accompanied the squad to different villages. 
Rashmi thus got acquainted with a Bengal student leader, who was leading the squad. They went 
to Rangpur. Kathalbari, Ncclpameri and Bordergunj. They received the warmest hospitality from 
the people, but the famine conditions were most distressing. Rashmi maintained a complete diary 
of their daily programme. They had to walk miles and miles, often carrying their own luggage, 
and move from village to village. They saw the thin-looking people with their semi-starved faces, 
the desolate huts of the peasants w ho had migrated to the city in search of employment and food, 
the pale and sickly women and children who had fallen victim to disease, and patients of diseases 
caused by starvation. They also observed the stark poverty of the peasant families, their bare mud 
huts, with nothing except a few earthen vessels. They were aghast to find women hiding in their 
homes because they had no clothes to cover their bodies. And the worst thing was the skeletons 
of people who had died of starvation, that they came across. At some places they found earthen 
pitchers lying on the ground. They were told, “Under this ground are buried the near and dear 
ones of those who could not afford to give their dead a proper cremation or burial. They just did 
not have the money.” They visited refugee camps and centres of people suffering from infectious 
diseases. In one such centre Rashmi became very upset as she could not bear to see the little 
babies with bodies covered with sores. But she pulled herself together immediately, as someone
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told her, “This is no time for frustration and demoralisation. You have come here as young 
ambassadors on an important mission. Go back to your provinces and tell your people and our 
brethren the sad plight into which Bengal has been plunged today.” At many places Rashmi sang 
the song of the Bengal famine, "Suno Hind ke rehnewalon, suno. suno...

They found the relief committees doing a lot of work, collecting clothes and funds, 
running cheap rice centres and milk centres for children. All this was making its impression on 
Rashmi. Here, on one side, was humanity suffering and groaning under the heels of a man-made 
famine, and on the other side were the hoarders and black-marketeers, making money to fill 
their coffers at the cost of the lives of the people. Then, there was the conscious organised force 
of the people, mobilising all help to fight the monstrous famine What had happened to Bengal, 
Sonar Kang/a of Rabindranath Tagore, where women were being forced to sell their honour for a 
few morsels of rice?

The squad returned to Calcutta after a fortnight's tour, and Rashmi once again met her 
own colleagues from Punjab who had been assigned to different squads. Sukanta, who had gone 
to Chittagong district, also returned. The Bengal student leader who led Rashmi's squad had 
become very friendly with her and Rashmi, on her return to Calcutta, felt that he was taking a 
keen interest in her. She also knew' that Sukanta had noticed this development. But Rashmi 
thought that it was a mere passing fancy.

During the journey back to Lahore, Rashmi showed her famine diary to Sukanta. She felt 
that she wanted to show him everything, and to talk to him for hours and hours together.

The Punjab Students' Federation soon launched an "Aid Bengal” drive and Rashmi 
worked quite hard for it. With the help of Anita and Savitri, tw'o other girl students, she organised 
the relief drive in the girls' colleges. Afterwards, Rashmi helped to organise a series of 
discussions on the Hindu-Muslim question in her college. Sukanta helped her in preparing for 
these discussions.

Rashmi had to suspend her work for a few days when she had to undergo a tonsillitis 
operation. Sukanta came to her house to see her w'hen she returned home from the hospital.

Soon, Rashmi became a member of the Students' Committee, together with Sukanta and 
two other provincial leaders.

Experience of students’ and women’s work in Lahore
Rashmi's experience so far was very little. But she was the only girl w'ho was working 

w ith the approval of her own people and could thus move around freely. However, she felt like an 
umvelcome guest when she went to see Anita at her house. Anita had to face a very tough home 
front. Rashmi had seen another girl being beaten by her father in public for continuing to do work 
in the students' movement. She had come across girls whose studies w'ere discontinued by their 
parents or who were married off because their parents feared they might join the communist 
movement. She considered herself very lucky for belonging to a progressive family.

Rashmi came across a very7 good Muslim family in the Bhati Gate area where she went 
daily to work in the Women's Self-Defence League. A young Muslim girl here made friends with 
Rashmi. Her name w'as Akhtar. The first day Akhtar took Rashmi to her house, she talked to her 
about her life. Akhtar w'as married off to a fifty-year old man when she herself was hardly 
seventeen. She hated her husband and came away to live with her parents. Her father was a ven 
strict person. Akhtar actually wanted to marry7 a young Khaksar boy, but he belonged to a 
different caste and her father wwld not agree to their marriage. When Akhtar insisted, her father 
beat her so badly that blue marks appeared all over her body. Then one day suddenly Akhtar w'as 
given in marriage to a man almost as old as her father. But Akhtar could not live with her 
husband and she came away to her maika and did not w'ant to return to her husband.

Akhtar looked happy and cheerful despite her sad past and her miserable life then. All 
these experiences made Rashmi think that a girl in an Indian home was entirely confined to the
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four walls of the house. She had no freedom as a girl, no rights as a wife, and no happiness as a 
mother. Rashmi realised that her own life and environment was quite different.

A year after her father's death, Rashmi's whole family planned to shift to Bombay 
Sukesh and Suhasini wrote to them that they should come away to Bombay. Rashmi broke this 
news to Sukanta. Sukanta told her that he too was going to Bombay to work in the secretariat of 
the All India Students' Federation. Rashmi was very happy. But she was to leave for Bombay 
long before Sukanta.

Rashmi was un ited to a farewell party by her class Her professors also attended the 
farewell party. Rashmi wanted to leave a parting gift. She made out a leather file and wrote 
several ven useful and informative articles for the album she wanted to present to her college. 
Sukanta suggested to her that she put in the album Lenin's famous words, “Man's dearest 
possession is life, and since it is given to him to live but once, he must so live as not to be scared 
with the shame of a cowardly and trivial past, so live as not to be tortured for years without 
purpose, so live that dying he can say: 'All my life and my strength were given to the first cause 
of the world—the liberation of mankind’.”1 When the album was ready. Rashmi took it to show 
to Sukanta. She felt very proud, showing it to him, because she had painted it and written all the 
articles in her own hand Sukanta said that he liked it.

1 These words really belong not to Lenin, but to the young Soviet writer Nikolai Ostrovsky. They occur in
his largely autobiographical noy'cl How the Steel yvas Tempered’—Ed.
‘ Of the 4-ycar B.A. course—Ed.

Before her departure for Bombay, Rashmi came to see Sukanta. As she was about to 
leave. Sukanta touched her hand with which she held her bicycle handle and pressed it. He then 
asked. “Rashmi, will you write to me from Bombay 9' Without realising what she was saying. 
Rashmi said. "Why?” Sukanta at once continued, “Oh. occasionally, about your work " Rashmi 
said that she would. She did not know’ why she had said "Why?" For she did want to write to 
Sukanta about her work, and more too... But Rashmi was shy and afraid. She thought Sukanta 
would be able to understand her position. But she did not know how Sukanta had interpreted her 
“Why?”

Rashmi and Anju were both present at the usual Thursday assembly when Miss McNair, 
the principal, announced the news about their departure. They were very sad to leave their old 
college, a college that been the first training school for Rashmi s political work. The sisters felt 
grateful that Miss McNair remembered to mention their leaving for Bombay at the Thursday 
assembly.

Departure for Bombay
Rashmi and Rakesh yvere the first tyvo to leave for Bombay in the summer of 1944.
In Bombay, Rashmi got admission in Wilson College. The college yvas situated near the 

Chaupati beach, very' close to the sea. She yvas admitted to the Third Year2 * and she took the 
Honours Course in Economics. In Bombay all colleges yvere coeducational. And this too yvas a 
neyv experience for Rashmi. The college had a ladies' room, yvhcrc the girl students could sit 
during their free periods. Rashmi found that the Maharashtrian and Gujarati girls yvere shy and 
rarely talked in the class. The Parsi girls yvho wore skirts, were bolder and more 'forward . 
Generally, all the girls sat in the front row's in the classroom. Some of the boys w'erc 
mischievous and often tried to provoke the girls yvho yvere timid. Rashmi found that the girls 
yvere by no means less intelligent than the boys. In fact, in some classes the best students were 
the girls. Rashmi noticed amongst such girls Miss Lalkaka, Miss Clark. Sonims and Shirin. But 
very few girls took part in extracurricular activities. There yvere societies and unions for even 
subject and occasionally debates and declamation contests were held
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Soon Rashmi got accustomed to the new conditions. After the first terminal examination, 
she found her name in the Scholars’ List’. She did not understand what this meant. Later, she 
was happy to learn that she would be getting a scholarship and would have to pay no fees.

But Rashmi’s studies were affected by the political work she soon plunged into. She 
joined the Bombay Students' Union (BSU) and started doing SF work in the college. At this time 
the communist students were completely isolated in the colleges due to their stand on the 1942 
Quit India’ struggle. Rashmi observed that the students in Bombay were much more conscious 

than the students in Punjab and hence the division among them was quite marked. There were 
two organisations working among the students, the Students' Congress and the Students' 
Federation. Unfortunately, the SF workers, most of whom were communists, did open Party 
work, like selling ‘People's War'1, distributing Part) literature etc. Rashmi, however, had a good 
academic record and therefore could manage to command greater respect among students. The SF 
set up Save Bengal comers and in this campaign got wide support from the students. The) 
organised a relief committee and collections for the sufferers of the Bengal famine.

The weekly organ of the Communist Party of India in those days.—Ed.
2For more on Suhasini, see AFTERWORD—Ed.

By now Sukanta had arrived in Bombay and had started work in the AISF. Rashmi used 
to go to the Bombay Students' Union office daily. and in the evening Sukanta would go with her 
to the FSU office, where she w as to join Rakesh The) discussed their work, had political talks, 
but they were both aware now that their friendship had al read)’ assumed a new form and ail the 
time Rashmi carried the secret in her heart

In Bombay, Rashmi came to understand Suhasim better. She was supposed to be the chief 
guide and mentor of Rashmi’s family. Both Sukesh and Rakesh , together with all the other FSU 
comrades, acknowledged her as their senior. She was the sole leader for them and her dominating 
and all-pervasive personality was too clear to all those who worked with her.

Rashmi’s whole family had come to Bombay. The)’ lived in Wadala in a beautiful 
building situated at a mile's distance from the electric railway station near a TB sanatorium. 
Rashmi felt that she could never raise any point contrary to the opinion of Suhasini. Suhasim 
loved the family, but at the same time she wanted them to do whatever she liked. Rashmi was 
made to believe that Suhasim alw ay s did everything for their good. If she scolded the y oungsters, 
it was to teach them to be better communists, better patriots and more dedicated revolutionaries. 
But Rashmi could not agree that Suhasini yvas always in the right. She observed that the FSU 
group gave themselves airs, they- yvere made to believe that they had the best cadres, the best 
organised yvork, and the best leadership. Rashmi heard sharp criticism of other fronts from 
Suhasini. She agreed with some of it, but not with all. Once she heard some unjust criticism of the 
AISF comrades too. The criticism might have been correct, but the spirit in yvhich it yvas made 
was not healthy and constructive. Rashmi yvas puzzled and confused. She was convinced that 
neither Suhasini nor the people in her circle would ever be able to understand her friendship with 
and her attachment to Sukanta. Moreover, Sukanta being a non-Kashmiri, Rashmi feared, yvould 
never be yvelcome in her family. She wzas not yvorried about this point, but she was deeply 
worried about the ideas that were being instilled in the minds of the family members.

Rashmi recognised that the FSU had very' good organisation, that Suhasini helped to 
bring out the talents in every one, that the FSU comrades had an exceptionally good team and a 
team spirit, and that they had an excellent leadership. But that yvas no reason why the FSU 
organisers should look dow n upon every one else. Rashmi felt that Suhasini had had great 
opportunities, that she had been in foreign lands and had therefore learnt many things. Other 
comrades could have been as competent as her. yvere they given the same opportunities. But 
Rashmi clearly sayv a great conflict between her own ideas and those of the people who w ere 
supposed to guide and lead her.2
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Rashmi also felt that she was too young to decide the vital question of marriage yet. In 
fact, she did not have the boldness to speak out her heart to anyone. She quietly stopped meeting 
Sukanta and discussing things with him. A mental conflict raged within her heart, but she pulled 
herself up and decided to face this immediate question.

The sad misunderstanding
One day Sukanta asked her, "Why have you stopped seeing me. Rashmi9' She answered. 

"No, there is nothing like that.” "Is there any change?" Sukanta asked Rashmi just said, "No 
Later, when Rashmi and Sukanta went into a restaurant, Sukanta insisted that Rashmi tell her the 
reason for the sudden change in her behaviour "I have always looked upon you as my brother. I 
have the same respect for you as for Sukesh and Rakesh. ' said Rashmi. In her simplicity and 
innocence she completely failed to understand that her reply would hurt Sukanta s feelings badly. 
She could not imagine, could never conceive that what she had just said would hurt Sukanta so 
much that he would simply break off. stop talking to her. To the simple girl that she was, the 
logic of her answer was clear, "If I cannot tell him that I love him, if I want to take some time to 
decide the question, 1 can at least put him on the same level as my own brothers, whom 1 love so 
deeply. But she did not know7 that this itself would be sufficient reason for Sukanta to cut her off 
completely

Sukanta stopped talking to Rashmi from that moment. They both saw each other in the 
SF office, but not a word passed between them Sometimes Rashmi would meet Sukanta on the 
road but he would pretend he had not noticed her. Many activities were organised -campaigns, 
conferences, study circles and meetings, in which both Sukanta and Rashmi were present, but 
they did not talk to each other.

Once Rashmi took a w ritten report of events in her college to Sukanta for publication in 
'The Student' It was past nine in the evening and she waited in the office all that time to go to 
him after everyone else had left. Sukanta just took the report and said he did not have the time to 
read it. Rashmi felt very hurt and walked out of the office with tears in her eyes.

Gradual!} . Rashmi started moving with other comrades. Sukanta did not like this and 
misunderstood her relations with one or tw o of them He too developed friendship w ith another 
girl, so much so that this became a subject of talk amongst other comrades. Rashmi was deeply 
hurt.

The days that followed were difficult days for Rashmi, for she felt completely lost. She 
felt very jealous of the girl she saw moving about with Sukanta. But she thought to herself that 
she had no right to be jealous, for had she not rebuffed Sukanta herself? "But I could never 
imagine that he would at once change and become so indifferent to me." thought Rashmi sadly.

In the Bombay Students' Union no one knew about the earlier friendship between 
Sukanta and Rashmi. Sukanta was elected general secretary' of the AISF at the following 
conference. He w as one of the rising comrades in the organisation. People noticed the growing 
friendship between him and the new girl. Friends sometimes teased her about Sukanta in 
Rashmi s presence. So Rashmi was absolutely convinced about Sukanta's new affair.

Rashmi began to concentrate hard on her studies and tried to forget every thing else. It 
was her final year, so she began working very hard. She had to take her examination in all the 
subjects, with Honours in Economics. She also started taking part in extracurricular activities. A 
declamation contest was held based on Rousseau's famous words ,”Man is bom free, but is in 
chains every where. Rashmi took part in the contest and she got help from Subrata Sen Gupta, 
then editor of The Student'. She did well and won the second prize. The first prize went to Mr. 
Gaitondc, the best debater among the Wilsonians. ITiat evening, after several months, when 
Sukanta saw her in the BSU office, he asked Rashmi, "Did you get the second prize, Rashmi?'" 
"Yes.” Rashmi responded shyly, and that was all.
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Rashmi loved this song, set to the tune of an Urdu ghazal. How many more poems and 
songs Shashi had written! Rakesh brought all of Shashi's old notebooks and started collecting 
his poetry. On Shashi’s first death anniversary the FSU brought out a cyclostylcd book containing 
some of the best poems he had written in English.

A public meeting in Sakesh’s memory was held at the Poddar College hall (Matunga) by 
the Bombay Branch of the FSU. Sukanta was among the speakers and spoke on behalf of the 
Students Federation. Rashmi heard him and wept silently. Rashmi's family had been badly 
shaken by this death. Rakesh, who looked to his elder brother as his guide and friend particularly 
missed him. Rashmi often noticed him weeping, and for days he appeared to be quite a lost 
person.

Sukesh was a quiet, modest and reserved person. Rashmi was sorry that she had not had 
the opportunity of getting to know her eldest brother better For about five years, ever since he 
came to Bombay, he had lived with Suhasini and Jambhekar at 7Ih Road, Khar, separate!} from 
the rest of the family. The sisters and brothers did not talk free!) with each other; there was a 
shyness betw een them which went off only with the passage of time. Rashmi recalled how 
Sukesh. Rakesh and their cousin sister Roopan had played about, sung and danced in the good old 
days in Lahore. But they were all in the same age group. The brothers, and particularly Sukesh. 
were not very free with their young sisters Rashmi and Anju. Rashmi's mother told her that 
Sukesh had always been very sensitive as a child. No one could ever know' the pain that he 
carried in his heart, and yet he had done so much for the family, contributed so much to draw 
them into the national and revolutionary movement. Rashmi's mother always believed that his 
tragic untimely death was due to continuous neglect of health and overstrain. Yet, it should never 
be forgotten that the one person who was responsible for bringing out the latent talent in Sukesh. 
for rearing him as a passionate patriot and a dedicated and conscientious worker was Suhasini. In 
his death she suffered both as a comrade and a mother. For all his friends, comrades and near and 
dear ones this was a loss that could never be repaired.

Rashmi joins the School of Economics
Rashmi had graduated by now. She got her B.A. Honours in Economics and joined M.A 

in the School of Economics. She started working on her thesis on the textile industry. Sukanta 
and Ravi Sinha also joined the same institute. They had to attend regular classes as the}- w'ere 
appearing by papers.

Rashmi came to the School library’ daily to read for her research She was great!} 
impressed by the serious and scholarly atmosphere in the School Here Rashmi saw' Sukanta 
practically every day. In the evenings the SF group had tea together and together they left to go to 
the AISF office. Rashmi, Sukanta and Ravi, all contested elections for membership of the college 
union Election cards bearing the names of all of them were printed. Sukanta canvassed for 
Rashmi and Rashmi canvassed for Sukanta. There was not much chance for any one of them 
being elected as they were all new to the School. Moreover, anti-communism was rampant in 
those days and it had become known to ever}' one that they were communists. However, Rashmi 
felt happy that she was part of this contest as it helped her to come closer to Sukanta.

An International Youth Commission consisting of Soviet. Yugoslav, French and Danish 
representatives was invited to visit India by the AISF. The group in which Rashmi w'orked went 
to the rich Malabar Hills area to collect funds. This was the biggest fund-raising drive organised 
by the SF after the Bengal famine of 1943. Sukanta took personal interest in the entire campaign 
and came to the BSU office. Rashmi left the office quite late in the evenings.

One evening, Rashmi was working in the office, getting read} the collection boxes, when 
Sukanta suddenly entered. "Arc you working all alone, Rashmi?” he asked. “Isn’t it getting late? 
Don’t you want to go home?”

“Yes,” replied Rashmi.
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“Come, then,” said Sukanta, and they went out of the office together. Sukanta left Rashmi 
at the Grant Road station. On the way they talked about their work. When the train was leaving, 
Rashmi thanked Sukanta for seeing her off. Sukanta simply smiled back and left the platform. 
This was the first time after their reconciliation that Sukanta had suggested to Rashmi that he 
would like to see her off. She remembered wistfully how he used to see her off daily at the FSU 
office before the sad misunderstanding arose between them.

The same week representatives of the youth commission were taken for sight seeing in 
Bombay. Different SF comrades accompanied the delegation to different places. Rashmi and 
Sukanta went with them to D R D Wadia's house. They sat together in the car in the front seats. 
Rashmi was sitting ven close to Sukanta; their clothes touched and a current of love ran through 
Rashmi's heart. Later, Rashmi was very pleased to learn that Sukanta had himself suggested that 
they both go together with the delegation to Mr. Wadia's house.

Preparations to go abroad
After the youth commission had left, the question arose of sending an AISF 

representative to work in the International Union of Students (I US) office. It was suggested that 
the Indian representative might leave in time to be able to attend the International Youth Festival 
Rashmi s name w'as proposed The matter was soon finalised and Rashmi began preparing to 
leave for her great European tour

She was at once taken to the AISF to acquire the training necessary for work that awaited 
her in the I US. She was put in charge of an international section where the work was to be done 
under Sukanta’s guidance. The first month was spent in studying the old correspondence w ith 
Miss Vidva Kanuga, the then representative of the AISF in the World Federation of Democratic 
Youth (WFDY). “

Sukanta soon afterwards left for Delhi with other AISF comrades for a working 
committee meeting. Before his departure he went to see Rashmi off at the Grant Road station 
They both had tea together. Then Rashmi said to Sukanta that she w'ould write to him at Delhi 
Sukanta was happy to hear this. He told Rashmi that he would definitely reply to her.

Sukanta left, and Rashmi w rote to him her first letter, a letter which expressed her warm 
but suppressed sentiments. "1 have been wanting to write to you since long, and write to vou what 
I find difficult to talk directly when you arc here. Sometimes I do not only want to discuss w ith 
you, but feel like fighting with you.” To this Sukanta replied, ‘'If you feel like fighting w ith me. 
w hat holds you back?” His letter to Rashmi w'as also full of warm, but hidden sentiments 
However, both understood the unexpressed feelings that they had for each other. This first letter 
by Rashmi opened the possibility of further correspondence and freer discussion between her and 
Sukanta.

When Sukanta returned to Bombay, he met Rashmi in the office and suggested they go 
out for a cup of tea. They went to a restaurant. Sukanta enquired about Rashmi’s work and health. 
Rashmi talked to him more frankly. It was then that she told him that she was suffering from 
piles, something that was giving her continuous trouble. Sukanta was glad that Rashmi had shared 
with him her very personal troubles. He thought she confided in him completely. Their letters to 
each other had brought them closer, creating a feeling of great sympathy and understanding.

From then onwards Rashmi and Sukanta worked in the same office, and Rashmi had to 
consult Sukanta daily about her w ork She w rote letters to the I US and WFDY w hich had to be 
checked by Sukanta, and this work brought them closer to each other. Sometimes, w hen it got a 
late for Rashmi to go home alone, Sukanta accompanied her up to the suburban railway station

Once Rashmi's entire family was invited by Mohan Bhai (Dattatreya) for lunch. Sukanta 
was also invited. Mohan Bhai and his two Punjabi friends turned out to be old acquaintances of 
Sukanta. This was a strange coincidence, an unexpected get-together of common friends of 
Rashmi and Sukanta, which Rashmi heartily enjoyed. Immediately after lunch, both Rashmi and 
Sukanta had to leave for the office to attend a meeting They went together from Dadar to Grant
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Road station and it was then that Rashmi learnt that Mohanbhai's uncle. Prof S.M. Dattatrcya. 
had been Sukanta’s professor in Lyallpur.

Once Rashmi invited Sukanta to her house at 6-B. Willingdon Colony in Santa Cruz to 
finalise arrangements for her voyage to Europe. She had long wanted to invite Sukanta to her 
house and waited for him eagerly. She had cooked some delicious potato chops for him. At last. 
Sukanta arrived. Rashmi’s younger brother Rati made tea as there was no one else in the house, 
while Rashmi talked to Sukanta. She had kept a file of old letters, including some of Sukanta's. 
which she brought out. saying, "You had changed your attitude towards me. You even stopped 
calling me by my name. Sec. here you have addressed me as 'Com. Vimla’.” This was in an old 
letter Sukanta had written to Rashmi from Andhra in reply to some points about AISF work 
Sukanta was surprised to sec that she had kept all the letters so carefully in a file. "Do y ou keep 
all your letters like this in a file? he asked. “Yes. I keep some people s letters.” said Rashmi w ith 
a smile.

They then had tea together. Sukanta praised the potato chops made by Rashmi. They 
recalled the old happy days of Lahore. Both left after an hour and a half. They travelled together 
up to Grant Road station. Sukanta said he was sorry to leave so soon, but he had a meeting. 
Rashmi also went to the office to finish some w'ork.

Late in the evening, when she was climbing down the stairs. Sukanta called out to her. 
"Where arc you going?” "Home.” replied Rashmi. "Wait.” said Sukanta, "1 shall come with you 
Sukanta joined Rashmi. Rashmi was very pleased. She understood that Sukanta wanted to be 
with her and she was glad. "I did not want to leave your house so early today. I wanted to stay 
longer.” Sukanta said on the way. "But I had a meeting.” Rashmi listened to him with a feeling of 
happiness and love but made no reply.

Rashmi’s mother had started making preparations for her departure for Europe. Just at 
that time Anju, who had stood first in her nursing examinations at the J. Wadia Children's 
Hospital, was also selected to go to London on a scholarship for higher studies in nursing and 
hospital administration. Their mother took out all her old saris and divided them between the two 
daughters. New blouses were stitched for both of them and also warm clothes made. Their mother 
made very pretty clothes for her daughters. Suhasini helped her in these preparations. Both 
sisters applied for their passports.

Sukanta gave all the help Rashmi needed in getting her passport. Rashmi welcomed the 
decision of her students’ organisation to send her abroad, not only because it promised great 
possibilities of learning new things, but also because it would spare her the mental suffering and 
agony she had undergone and give her a chance to begin life afresh. Sukanta supported her going 
abroad because he knew she wanted to go. He too wanted to spare them both the mental suffering 
that had been caused due to the problems that had arisen in their relationship. Their affection 
and love w as rapidly, being revived but none of them w as clear about the future. Rashmi knew 
that Sukanta's affair with the other girl still existed and she never wanted to come in the way of 
their happiness. So she very much wanted to leave India for some time.

Sukanta went out of Bombay for a few7 days. By the time he returned very' few davs were 
left before Rashmi’s departure. One morning they set off together to have a talk. They came to 
the Churchgatc station and went to the coffee house nearby. The AISF had decided to send 
Sukanta also to attend the IUS Council and the Youth Festival. Rashmi was to travel by boat. She 
told Sukanta that she was keen that he join her. Sukanta had difficulties and regretted that he 
would not be able to go with her. He might come later, but nothing was certain as yet. While thev 
had coffee, in the crowded and noisy atmosphere of the restaurant, they were able to finalise 
Rashmi s financial and other requirements.

They came out. Sukanta understood that Rashmi wanted to spend some more time with 
him. He too w'anted to be with her. So he suggested they have a cup of tea. They went into a 
restaurant opposite the School of Economics and sat together in a quiet corner. Their conversation 
continued, but they were talking about things which were not so important. All this time Rashmi
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was longing to talk to Sukanta frankly, to give vent to her feelings openly, but she was shy. She 
felt awkw'ard and embarrassed. They returned to the Churchgatc station and got into a train in a 
compartment which did not have many passengers. Rashmi sat near the window. The train started 
and she looked out Many stations passed, but Rashmi could not start what she wanted to say. 
There was silence between them. Sukanta was sitting very close to Rashmi. but he too remained 
silent. Then, he asked suddenly, “What arc you thinking?” “Nothing,” replied Rashmi. But this 
was not true. Rashmi s mind was full of so many thoughts. She thought of their long separation, 
which was now fast approaching. They got down and went straight to the office w here Sukanta 
resumed his work Rashmi had the feeling that she had lost a golden opportunity to talk and open 
her mind to Sukanta And she did not know' whether and when such an opportunity would come 
again.

Rashmi felt a joyous sensation while working in the A1SF office with Sukanta. She 
experienced an irrepressible tenderness sweeping oxer her when they walked together every' 
evening to the station She was conscious that Sukanta too felt affection for her. though he did not 
express it openly and frankly. But she felt that a barrier still existed between them A persistent 
feeling of shyness and embarrassment stood in the way of normalising their relations. And y et, 
w hat sort of normalisation did she expect? She had never conceived of their union, for, ever since 
their break, someone else had come into Sukantas life. She was happy that Sukanta s attitude 
was again considerate and warm towards her. She was satisfied with the help he gave her in her 
work. She did not know the depth of Sukanta s feeling for his new' friend, nor the extent to which 
their friendship had gone. But now she was leaving India for some time, and she was anxious to 
normalise her relationship with Sukanta completely so that they could work together like two 
good friends and comrades.

So she decided to w rite to Sukanta what she could not say to him directly. She gave him a 
letter one day expressing her heartfelt desire that the barrier of embarrassment be broken between 
them and asking for still better and more normal treatment.

Sukanta was annoyed when he read the letter. His reaction to it w'as just the opposite of 
what Rashmi had expected He wondered what Rashmi wanted from him. So he wanted a 
discussion on her letter They went into a restaurant to talk. Sukanta complained that Rashmi 
seemed to belittle the positive change that had come about in their relations. After tea. they sat in 
the veranda for some time. Rashmi w'as terribly upset. She said to Sukanta. “1 don't want 
anything to come in the way of our friendship." Sukanta could sec that Rashmi w as talking in all 
sincerity. He said. "I too don't want anything to come in the way of our friendship." and he patted 
Rashmi s hair kindly and affectionately. It was time for him to go to the PHQ for his dinner.

The next day he was leaving for Cuttack for the Council meeting of the AISF. “I hope 
you will get your passport without much difficulty, Rashmi. Fil try to get back to Bombay before 
you leave.” There was warmth in these words, and Rashmi knew that once again peace had 
returned between them. She just touched him and said, “Good bye.”

The entire AISF staff left for Cuttack the next day. The passport authorities were 
delaying the grant of a passport to Rashmi. The Cuttack Council meeting of the AISF launched a 
strong protest and demanded that Rashmi be given a passport immediately. At last she got it. Her 
passage had alrcadv been booked bv ‘S.S.Samaria. which was scheduled to sail on June 14, 
1947.

One morning, as Rashmi entered the AISF office, an ‘Express Letter' was handed over to 
her. She recognised Sukanta s handwriting on it and opened it immediately. She had never 
expected a letter from him. “I know that you arc not expecting a letter from me, but I know also 
that you will not mind if 1 write to you,” Sukanta began his letter. He told Rashmi that he was 
try ing his best to return to Bombay before her departure. Rashmi w'as overjoyed.

Her preparations were soon over and the day arrived for Rashmi to leave All her friends 
and relatives came to the docks to see her off. Rashmi said ‘good bye' to one and all. Tears 
gushed like from a fountain from her eyes as she shook hands with every one. At last she boarded
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the ship and waved to them. An Indian girl, a cousin of Com. S.G. Sardcsai. was travelling by the 
same boat. Rashmi arranged her bags and occupied her place in her cabin. At 5 p.m. Rashmi was 
surprised to learn that all the passengers were allowed to leave the boat for some hours and return 
by 12 o'clock midnight. Rashmi was excited. She tried to contact her people at Santa Cruz, but in 
vain. Then she telephoned the PHQ and got a message conveyed to Sukanta saying that she was 
coming to the AISF office.

The last night before departure
Rashmi got into a taxi and came to the AISF office. Sunil was working there. Sukanta 

came after his dinner and was surprised to sec her. “I came to get ‘The Student file,” said she. 
She went to his desk as he managed find a few copies of 'The Student' for her. "What else? 
asked Sukanta. softly. Rashmi told him that she had to return to the boat soon. He came out with 
her to the bus stop and then told her that he would come up to the docks. Rashmi was quite 
thrilled. She had longed to have a few last moments with Sukanta. but that had not been possible 
earlier. A mere chance had brought them together now. They got into a bus.

"Will you come back soon. Rashmi?' asked Sukanta
" Of course, I will.'’
"You won’t stay longer than your term? ’
"No, I will come back. I wanted to invite you for a meal and give y ou food cooked by 

my own hands. '
"You may do that when you come back, said Sukanta with a smile.
They soon got down and walked up to the docks. It was nearly ten, there were still two 

hours. They both sat down near the sea. It was a beautiful moonlit night. The cool and fresh 
waters flowed calmly past them. These two hours w'ere precious for Rashmi. They had been 
snatched by sheer luck, just when Rashmi was leaving her homeland, her near and dear ones, and 
going far. far away, across the oceans.

"What did Nargis tell you?” Rashmi asked.
"1 will tell you when I come to Prague." said Sukanta.
"Will you come definitely? "
"I hope so. 1 wanted to go along with y ou, but that was not possible. Now I shall come 

by air "
They went on talking. And then Rashmi said, "Why do y ou become so stem sometimes? " 
"No, Rashmi!” Sukanta said. Suddenly and for an instant their hands touched. Sukanta 

held Rashmi’s hand in his own for a while. That was the first most thrilling and joyous moment 
for Rashmi. The pressure of his hand awakened in her heart the desire to belong to Sukanta for 
ever and ever. Casually and carelessly Sukanta lay down on the grass near her and once again 
caught her hand. It was then that he promised that he would do his best to come to the Festival 
and to the IUS Council meeting, as decided by the AISF. The clock struck 11 and Sukanta went 
in to see the time. There was still one more hour. But that too passed soon. Rashmi took out four 
bars of Nestle’s chocolate and gave them to Sukanta.

"How will you go home?” she asked, and gave him five rupees to get a taxi. “I won't 
need Indian currency any more, so you may take this.” Again they said good bye to each other. 
Sukanta pressed Rashmi"s hand warmly and went away.

The S.S. Samaria did not leave until the next morning. Rashmi s friends and relatives 
were at the docks next morning too. All members of her family' came. The Jambhckars too came 
Among those who arrived to bid her good bye were Wadud, Sushila, Kamal, Sen and many 
others. But Rashmi did not sec Sukanta among them. She could just wave her hands, as the boat 
had already left the shores. She had not expected so many people to come again without any prior 
notice. She was very happy that they could

S. S. Samaria sails off
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At last the boat left Bombay. Rashmi felt sad to leave her country, and yet her mind was 
filled with new ideas. She looked to the future with great hope and expectation, with new plans of 
learning and self-education, of acquiring training and experience in the international students' 
movement.

The sea voyage was not very interesting for Rashmi because she was travelling all alone. 
She managed to get acquainted with some Indian girls. There were many British and Anglo- 
Indian families on the boat and Rashmi began to have a taste of Western life and culture. She 
liked the morning breakfasts and developed a taste for Western dishes. It was here that she was 
forced to eat beef, which was served with practically every meal. There was music and dancing, 
games and a lot of fun in the evenings. The rooms on the upper deck smelt of alcohol, and 
Rashmi detested going there There was a lot of love-making on the boat which appeared to 
Rashmi as vulgar as she was not familiar with the Western way of life. Many women suffered 
from seasickness, and Rashmi also felt seasick in the beginning, but gradually she got oxer it.

The first stoppage of the boat was at Cairo. The passengers were greatly relieved to see 
land after so many days of 'life on water'. Roads and buildings and people appeared once again. 
As soon as the boat stopped, scores of Egyptian vendors came rushing in to sell beautiful leather 
bags, cushion covers, wooden figurines, baskets and toys. Rashmi bought two Egy ptian bags, one 
for Sukanta and the other one for her brother Rakesh.

When the boat left Cairo, a ease of infantile paraly sis was discovered The patient w as 
kept in a segregated cabin and treated there, but his condition became worse and worse. After two 
day s, a special landing was made late at night and the patient was sent out to the hospital. Rashmi 
was deeply affected by this incident. The patient was a young man. He too had left his near and 
dear ones behind just a week back. No one could say whether he would survive or not.

It w as moving to see the reaction of many Indian passengers when the boat was passing 
through the Suez Canal. They all said, "'Now we are moving away from Asia, from our own 
continent. " The canal is so narrow that if one throws a stone from the boat it can reach the land 
across the waters.

Experience with the British Customs
Rashmi spent twenty-one day s on the boat and at last arrived at Livcq^ool. Arvind 

Mehta's wife Kumud had come from London to receive her. It took the passengers seven long 
hours to disembark, and then Rashmi had the terrible experience of the British customs 
authorities. Each single article of her baggage was examined minutely. Rashmi was carry ing a 
large box containing a poster exhibition and some very' artistic gifts, to be presented to the 
Stalingrad Youth Memorial. The customs officers callously damaged the beautiful pieces of 
sculptures and paintings of Shahid-e-Azam Bhagat Singh. Rashmi and Kumud got very late. The 
special train meant for passengers of the boat had left, so they had to catch another train to 
London.

On the way Kumud handed over a letter to Rashmi from Sukanta. She felt so happv to 
read it He had sent useful instructions, and at the end had written, “I was very happy that vou 
came to the office that night to get The Student' files Both Rashmi and Sukanta knew that her 
visit to the office that evening was so vital for them; it gave them four precious hours to be 
together on the last day before Rashmi left her homeland.

In London
Rashmi spent just two days in London. She met Kitty Boomla, Arvind Mehta, Dr.K.M 

Ashraf, Sharai Athar Ali and many other comrades. She was taken to the office of the Communist 
Party of Great Britain (CPGB) and was introduced to Com. Rajani Palme Dutt, a leader held in 
great esteem by all Indian comrades there. London is a big city, but there was hardly anv time to 
see it. Kitty Boomla, who was planning to return to India that year, told her all about the I US and
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WFDY. Rashmi learnt tha Kitty was attending Party schools to get her knowledge of Marxism- 
Leninism and Indian politics updated.

The next day Rashmi left for Prague.

Arrival in Prague
Rashmi arrived in Prague all alone and went straight to Stalinova, to the office of the 

Festival Committee. Here she met Kitty Hookam, secretary of the Festival Committee, as well as 
Vidva Kanuga, the then representative of the AISF in the WFDY. She was handed over all the 
latest letters from India giving news about the participation of Indian youth in the Festival and the 
1US Council. The offices of the Festival Committee were buzzing with news of the youth 
expected from all over the world to attend the first great Festival of Friendship and Peace Here 
Rashmi met Bert Williams of Australia, who was secretary of the WFDY at that time 
Delegations of young people had already started arriving. Hundreds of Czechoslovak youth 
received them warmly every' day at the Praha (Prague) railway station.

The anniversary of the Great French Revolution was celebrated on 14th July in a big hall 
There was a ball, and here Rashmi saw for the first time European social dancing, so much 
written about in English novels. It was thrilling to sec how European young boys and girls 
enjoyed themselves, how naturally they mixed with each other, how freely and confident!} they 
moved about.

Within a couple of days groups of young people started arriving from all corners of the 
world. And then came the grand opening of the First International Festival of Youth, symbolising 
the warm and unbreakable unity of y oung people and their aspirations for a world of peace. 
Among the participants were youth who had themselves experienced the horrors of war. boy s and 
girls who had suffered the cruel tortures of gas chambers and concentration camps, who had seen 
with their own eyes the terrible destruction of magnificent monuments and of cities and towns, 
and whose near and dear ones had perished in the ghastly war which ended not so long ago 
These young people had come together to express their common desire to sacrifice their all for 
safeguarding the noblest cause in the world, the cause of peace among nations.

Row after row in colourful national costumes, holding their national flags marched in the 
Masary k Stadium, which presented a sea of faces. Hundreds of white doves were released in the 
sky amidst enthusiastic slogans of peace and friendship, and thus the Festival was ceremoniously 
inaugurated. Rashmi marched with the Indian contingent in her ghagra and odhni, proudly 
display ing the pieces of mirror glistening amidst the multicoloured design of her skirt. She was 
sorry that Sukanta should have missed such a grand and picturesque demonstration of y outh

Sukanta arrives in Prague
Early next morning Rashmi went to the exchange office in Sokolovna to get her 

travellers’ cheques cashed. As she was standing near the counter, someone put his hands on her 
shoulders. She glanced back and found Sukanta smiling at her. Rashmi was overjoyed to sec him 
He had arrived by air the previous night and had come to Sokolovna to contact Rashmi and other 
members of the Indian delegation. Rashmi was excited to sec him in Prague at last, but was too 
shy to express her feelings. They w'ent upstairs to the hall where the 'Needs of Youth' seminar 
was to be held that day. No one had arrived as yet. Rashmi was relieved. She had prepared a 
paper on the needs of Indian youth, but she felt hesitant to speak at the seminar in Sukanta’s 
presence. Luckily for her, the seminar was postponed for some reason.

Here in Prague Rashmi was quite free to move about with Sukanta; no social restrictions 
prevented their being with each other. She took him first to Stalinova to meet Vidya Kanuga. On 
the way Sukanta said that he wanted to have some breakfast and tea. They went to a canteen and 
got something to cat. Then they walked up to Stalinova. Rashmi told Sukanta all about her 
journey, from Bombay up to Prague. She related to him her experiences in London and Prague, 
her reaction to the way of life in the West for the first time, she really felt absolutely free moving
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about with Sukanta. chatting with him without any fear. Sukanta could see she was very happy to 
sec him. And so too was he to see her.

After they had got all the details about the I US Council meeting and the Festival from 
Vidya, Sukanta and Rashmi got into a tram to go to Tilova College, where the Council was to 
meet. On the way they had lunch together. The Council meeting lasted all afternoon. In the 
evening they came once again to Stalinova to meet Vidya. after which Rashmi took Sukanta to 
her hostel. She brought out some sweets and cigarettes for him and they sat down to chat 
together. Now in her own room. Rashmi told Sukanta that she was very happy that he had been 
able to come. They talked together for hours, and then Rashmi came to the tram station to sec 
Sukanta off. It was decided that Rashmi too would seek accommodation in Tilova College and 
stay there until the end of the Council meeting.

Next day they went to see Yarmilla. the office secretary, to fix up the rooms where they 
would stay. They were given rooms next to each other A thrill ran through Rashmi's heart at the 
thought that they would be residing in rooms side by side. They came out happily and moved to 
their rooms. Sukanta suggested that Rashmi could bring her bags the next morning.

The Council session started early next morning. Rashmi felt unwell that day. so she left 
the meeting and came upstairs to rest. In the evening Sukanta came to see her. He touched her 
and said. “You seem to have fever. You arc very warm Rashmi smiled back at him and replied. 
“It is just exhaustion.” They went to see the exhibition after they had had some tea. On the w ay 
Sukanta said to Rashmi. "You must be angry with me because I did not come to Europe with y ou. 
I wanted to, but it was not possible. You must be annoy ed also because I did not come to the 
docks again next morning before your ship sailed. But y ou must excuse me.”

Rashmi said it did not matter and that she had not taken it ill. On the way back Sukanta 
and the Indonesian friend Sugiono sat together in the tram Sukanta hinted to Rashmi to come 
and sit with them. But Rashmi did not catch his words and sat on the opposite seat. When they 
arrived at the Tilova College, Rashmi asked Sukanta to bring her the files of ‘The Student'. 
Sukanta came straight to Rashmi's room and sat down on the bed.

“Arc y ou happy I came. Rashmi?” asked Sukanta.
“I told you so yesterday. Why should you ask9” said Rashmi.
“Well, should I not ask?” Sukanta said.
"Of course, 1 am happy, very, very happy that y ou came. You will help me in all my 

work, won’t you?
“Of course I will.”
For some time they talked about the report that was to be presented to the IUS Council. 

Then they retired to their rooms to go to bed.
The Council session continued the next day. Late in the evenings there were meetings of 

\arious commissions. After dinner Sukanta went to attend the meeting of the commission on 
colonial problems. Rashmi came back to her room and got ready to wash her hair. She them 
combed her hair and settled down to read a book After two hours Sukanta came to her room.

“You are still awake?”
“Yes,” replied Rashmi.
Sukanta sat down near her and gave her a detailed account of the commission's meeting. 

He also told her about the stand he had taken on specific issues. He seemed to be satisfied with 
his contribution. He then asked Rashmi. “Did I do well or not?”

Rashmi smiled and said. “Yes, yes”. Thus they talked for some time. Both of them were 
aware of the increasing warmth and intimacy that was grow ing between them. The love that thev 
felt for each other w;as awaiting frank and open expression Yet another day passed.

Next morning Rashmi got ready to leave Tilova College and go to the city to attend a 
Festival event. Before leaving, she went to Sukanta's room. He was sitting on his bed, writing. As 
Rashmi entered, he asked her about her programme.

“1 am going to the Festival grounds. Please come with me,” said Rashmi.
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"1 have to complete my report, Rashmi. I am sorry I won't be able to come with you. ’ 
Rashmi was somewhat disappointed. Sukanta asked her to sit down for a while.
“Come with me,” Rashmi repeated.
“I cannot go just now. Do sit down for a while.”
Rashmi sat down on the bed near Sukanta and leaned against the wall They were sitting 

very close to each other and suddenly Rashmi's shoulder touched his. A glow of warmth passed 
through her body.

"What arc you thinking?” Sukanta asked.
"Nothing,” she said.
"It is good to be here,” he remarked.
"Yes. but you will go away soon.” Rashmi said sadly.
"Should 1 stay on here?”

"How can you stay on here? You arc such a big leader They would want you 
back.”

For a while they were both silent.
"Please shut the door. I wish to talk to you,” Rashmi said. Sukanta got up and closed 

the door.
“Now tell me please, what did Nargis tell you?”
"She told me whatever you had told her.” replied Sukanta.
“Still, what did she say?”
“What did you tell her?”
"I told her that you had become annoyed with me and that 1 was sorry about it,” said 

Rashmi. And then in an agitated voice she continued, "I do not want you ever to be angry with 
me again. 1 want nothing to come in the way of our friendship.'’

“Is this friendship?” Sukanta asked.
"Of course, this is very good friendship,” Rashmi asserted.
“Is this just friendship or something else too? Asked Sukanta
Rashmi looked down and said sadly. "What is the use of telling you now ?” 
“Why0 What has happened9”
"You have other friends,” said she.
"Arc you angry7 w ith me?”

"No, what right have I to be angry w ith you?” Suddenly her voice broke and she 
said, “I don't want you ever to be angry with me again.”

“Rashmi. Rashmi, do you love me? Say ‘yes’ or ‘no’.”
Rashmi was taken aback. She looked up at Sukanta with her ey es full of love. 

“Didn't you know it all this time?”
In a moment she found her head resting on Sukanta’s shoulders. Sukanta held her with 

his hands and kissed her face, her eyes ... He raised her face to his and said. “My dearest, my 
dearest!” All their pent up feelings burst out in a torrent. Tears gushed from Rashmi’s eyes, tears 
of love and of gratefulness. Sukanta fondled her hair affectionately and pronounced her pct name. 
Rashmi was overwhelmed. In a moment the whole world looked different to her; life was 
beautiful. She touched Sukanta’s hair and said, “I used to long to touch and play with your hair. 
She closed the open buttons of his shirt and said, “Why did you not guess all these years that I 
love you, so deeply that I have held you in my heart all the time?” It was time for her to leave. “I 
don't want to leave you. but people will be waiting for me at my hostel

There was a knock at the door. Sukanata got up and opened the door and found Suigomo 
standing there Both of them came down and went w ith Rashmi up to the tram station to see her 
oft'. Rashmi left the keys to her room with Sukanta and said, “I shall be back tomorrow early 
morning, before breakfast.” She mounted the tram and waved good bye to Sukanta and Suigomo 
and left.
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Rashmi reached her hostel, met all her friends and settled with them the programme of 
the Indian delegation. Next morning she arrived at Tilova College at seven. She carried with her 
the Egyptian bag she had bought at Cairo for Sukanta. She knocked at Sukanta's door as she 
reached the college. He soon came out.

"Please give me my keys,'’ Rashmi said. Sukanta brought out the keys and both went to 
Rashmi s room together. Rashmi put her bag on the table, took out Sukanta’s present and said, 
"This is for vou.” Sukanta took the Egyptian bag. "Do you like it?’ Rashmi asked. "Yes, it was 
so good of you to think of buying it for me.” Sukanta sat close to Rashmi and held her hands 
Suddenly. Rashmi burst into tears.

"Whv, arc you not happy?” asked Sukanta, wiping her tears with his own handkerchief. 
Rashmi went on crying. She had found Sukanta after so many months and had told him the secret 
of her heart, but the suffering and mental torture she had gone through only she knew. And much 
had happened during these long months. Sukanta had become friendly w ith another girl But 
Rashmi knew that he loved her dearly and that he belonged to her.

"Be happy, Rashmi. I love you very much. You must not feel sad.” In a few' minutes 
Rashmi was all right.

The I US Council meeting was held at the same time as the Festival. Misha and Tamara 
Ershova led the delegation of the Anti-Fascist Committee of Soviet Youth, Rajko Tamovich, the 
Yugoslav delegation; M. Trouval, the French delegation: Bill Rust and Tom Madden, the British 
delegation. Sukanta listened to the discussions attentively and himself played a decisive part in 
influencing the policies of the IUS on colonial countries. The North African and Vietnamese 
delegations applauded him for boldly answering the criticism of M. Trouval against the IUS 
policies of solidarity with colonial countries. Sukanta and Rashmi met representatives of the 
organised student movement of even country' at the Council. The Egyptian student 
representatives, Sugiomo and Suripio from Indonesia, the Tunisian and Syrian students, would 
consult Sukanta on every' important point The students’ delegations from colonial and dependent 
countries put forth a common point of view and called upon the IUS to pledge full support for the 
struggle of the students of their countries for national independence, w hich alone could guarantee 
their right to free and democratic education The Council meetings lasted for five or six days. 
Consequently, the delegates attending them had to miss a lot of Festival events.

The Great Festival—August 1947
The Festival delegation from India consisted in the main of students studying in Britain. 

Rashmi and Sukanta were the only ones who had come directly from India. There w'as a big 
contingent of Muslim students too.

15th August 1947 brought freedom to India. Indians in Prague celebrated the day by 
holding a big reception. Muslim participants congratulated the others. The terrible consequences 
of the partition of the country w ere not yet known and w'erc not even expected.

Madan Bakaya and Gul Zaveri had also arrived by now from Bombay, representing the 
FSU. Rashmi spent a lot of time with them.

For fifteen days, the streets of Prague, the beautiful capital of Czechoslovakia, were filled 
with young people from all over the world The Czechs showed them warm hospitality, treating 
them with great kindness and consideration The Wenceslas Square was beautifully decorated 
w ith buntings and flags of different nations. The window decorations of the shops, for w hich the 
city is so famous, were cxtrcmcl} attractive. The tram conductors and the traffic police were 
extreme!} kind to the foreigners. Every day youth marches and demonstrations passed through 
the city. Rashmi was excited to sec the torchlight procession of youth, singing partisan songs. 
The w'ell-known Czech song Tansvi, tansvi, Vikrutse, vikrutse' and the popular song of the 
Yugoslav youth 'Yedan dva, yedan dva. omladina Titova' w ere soon on the lips of all young 
people. Hotels, restaurants and tcashops were crowded with youth, and in the evenings 'lorky 
porky’, the Czech sausage served w ith mustard, w'as the favourite dish of hundreds of youth.
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An important aspect of the Festival was the youth exhibition organised in a huge grounds 
and especially put up for the great gathering. Rashmi and Vidya had helped to put up the Indian 
section, which was poor both in quality and material due to financial difficulties, and so were the 
sections representing other colonial countries. The technique of putting up an exhibition was 
entirely new to Rashmi, who had seen several exhibitions in her own country. Large photographs, 
oil paintings and wood carvings formed the major part of the exhibition. Unlike in her own 
country7, here most of the work was done by professional artists and technicians who were 
specially brought to Prague to mount the exhibitions.

The Festival brought to Prague some of the best artistes, singers and dancers, but Rashmi 
was too young and immature to understand their talent. Western music and dance were absolutely 
new to her Sukanta showed little or practically no interest in cultural and artistic events at that 
time. However, Rashmi took him to a few open air performances.

She went to open air film shows, most of which depicted the struggle against fascism. 
With Madan Bhai and Gul she enjoyed the cultural evenings and listened to the inspiring songs 
rendered by the Polish, Bulgarian and Greek choirs. She also saw the Soviet dances and the 
famous Russian ballet. The evening of national games was interesting and Rashmi was 
particularly struck by the Mongolian game of wrestling. The receptions held by different 
delegations brought delegates of various countries together and gave them an opportunity to 
exchange experiences and gain knowledge about the life and struggle of youth in different lands. 
But with the I US Council and other work, the richness and abundance of culture that the Festival 
offered could not be fully absorbed by Rashmi and Sukanta.

The last day of the Festival saw the biggest get-together as youth marched in the richly- 
decorated Wenceslas Square. President Gottwald stood on the dais that was specially erected for 
the event, together with youth leaders from all countries, and thousands of people, dressed in their 
national costumes, passed by. The people of Prague greeted these ambassadors of peace and 
friendship and shouted slogans from every' nook and comer of the great square. And thus 
culminated the first festival organised by the World Federation of Democratic Youth and the 
International Union of Students.

It was obvious that such a successful event could not have been organised without the 
help of the government, and this assistance could possibly be given only by a government which 
was itself pledged to a policy of peace. The enormous facilities to accommodate thousands of 
foreigners, the transport arrangements, the complete handing over of the theatres, cinema halls, 
schools and open air stages to the organisers could alone make such a grand festival possible.

Many countries still groaning under the heels of imperialism and fascism could not be 
well represented at the Festival. The Chinese, Spanish and Greek delegates, however, found their 
way, bringing with them the call of their youth for solidarity to liberate their countries from the 
clutches of imperialists and fascists. Rashmi and Sukanta met the Chinese students and sent an 
interview with them for publication in ‘The Student'.

Rashmi and Sukanta moved about together during all the youthful events of the Festival. 
They went to the banks of rivers, to the beautiful parks, to the gardens on hilltops and to the open 
air performances, hand in hand. Rashmi dressed herself in all the beautiful saris given by her 
mother She felt younger in age and happier in spirit. They had breakfast, lunch, tea and dinner 
together, and enjoyed the big red ‘yablokas’ (apples) and the sweet, juicy pears. Sukanta would 
buy apples for Rashmi and Rashmi, pears for Sukanta

In the late evenings they would talk endlessly for hours together about the ups and downs 
of their friendship, the sad break, the reconciliation and the situation that had brought them 
together again after almost 24 long months. Rashmi showed Sukanta passages from her diary, 
confirming her continuing and ever-increasing affection for him and her heart's desire to work 
and to live with him, devoting her life to the fulfilment of the cause which they both cherished so 
ardently'. In between her reading the passages, Sukanta would sadly remark, “Oh, Rashmi! What
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have you done? Why did you not show all this to me earlier? Why did you keep me in the dark all 
this time?”

The Festival ended. Youth teams were going to Yugoslavia to work in the brigades. 
Madan Bhai and Gul went earlier. Navin Patel also accompanied them. Sukanta was invited to 
visit and study the conditions and the working of the youth organisations in Yugoslavia by the 
youth organisations there, and especially by Rajko Tomovich, who was the guest of the Indian 
youth the previous year. Sukanta went away soon after the Festival.

Rashmi now settled down to her regular work in the IUS office. She went to the office at 
7 in the morning daily and returned to her hostel at 6 in the evening. In the beginning she was put 
in charge of the Students' Relief Department, w hich dealt with rendering material aid to the 
students of needy countries. The I US was a constituent member of the World Students' Relict' 
(WSR). together with the ICS and Pax Romana. The WSR had its headquarters in Geneva. 
Rashmi spent the first two weeks in studying all the material related to the work of this 
department. The French student leader M. Bouchet also worked in the WSR on behalf of the 
IUS, and was sent to the WSR meetings along with Rashmi later.

The IUS office then had only two representatives from Asian countries—Rashmi and the 
Indonesian Sugiono. Later, Peter Chien, representing the NFCS joined them. The IUS established 
a new department, the Colonial Bureau, to strengthen its contacts with the students of colonial, 
semi-colonial and dependent countries. The IUS Press Release and WSN department was looked 
after by the representative of American NUS, w ho was working only in a fraternal capacity . 
Another American student, Ben Wicnfield . w ho was a progressive, helped in the work of Press 
Information Department. The President of the IUS was Joseph Grohman, a Czechslovak, and his 
fiancee Yarmilla, a tall and kind lady, looked after the office and managerial work. There was no 
Soviet representative in the IUS at that time. The administration and functioning of the 
organisation was extremely bureaucratic in the initial period, with the President reigning supreme 
He hardly show ed any understanding of colonial problems and therefore Rashmi, Sugiono and 
Peter Chien had to wage a hard and prolonged struggle to get the IUS to really support the 
students fighting against colonialism.

Rashmi s lack of knowledge of the Czech language was a great handicap for her. An 
English weekly Prague Newsletter' was published in the capital, w'hich helped them to 
understand local and world developments. But this too stopped after some time.

In Rashmi s hostel there was a smart, robust looking Czech girl, who was engaged to a 
White Russian (Belorussian) boy. She was immensely kind to Rashmi, and grew' very friendly 
with Madan Bhai and Gul. She told Rashmi a lot about her country', their customs and the way 
they lived. Another girl, Vera, a press correspondent, took Rashmi to the Party office and showed 
her the giant buildings of the 'Rude Pravo' (Red Truth), the Party journal.

Meeting with Gustava Fuchikova
One day Vera took Rashmi to meet Gustava, wife of the great revolutionary writer Julius 

Fuchik, author of Notes from the Gallows and several other books. With great emotion and 
pride Vera related to Rashmi the inspiring story of Julius Fuchik, his unprecedented sacrifices and 
exemplary’ heroism. Rashmi looked at his wife with admiration and a thrill and noticed the signs 
of deep suffering on her kind but resolute face.

Later, Vera took Rashmi to sec a play about Fuchik's life. Rashmi had not yet read the 
full story of Fuchik. Yet, she was very proud of having met Gustava, friend, beloved and wife, 
companion and comrade of the great w riter. Gustava was in the same prison w ith Fuchik for 
many months, where Fuchik was brutally tortured, mercilessly beaten and finally murdered. It 
w as a great honour to meet his w ife, w ho had shown equal valour in the face of fascist cruelty and 
oppression.

Sukanta Returns to Prague



Madan Bhai and Gul came back from Yugoslavia with ven extraordinary stories about 
the work of Yugoslav youth. They left for India soon aftenvards. Navin Patel also returned. But 
he had settled in Prague for some time. Sukanta came back last of all, after an extensive tour of 
some parts of the country, along with Malayan, Chinese, Indonesian and African youth leaders. 
He had also met Marshal Tito, who gave the youth leaders a special interview.

It was one day in the morning that Sukanta’s train arrived at the Prague railway station. 
Rashmi was there, waiting for him. As the train steamed in. Sukanta saw' her and shouted. 
"Rashmi!” and dismounted with all his luggage. An African youth was also with him. They went 
to the 1US office together, arranged for the African's stay, left him in the office and came back to 
Rashmi's hostel. Rashmi had been by now' given a new apartment. Sukanta entered her room, put 
his jacket on a hanger and then caught Rashmi in a warm embrace. “My dearest, my darling!' he 
exclaimed. Rashmi was moved to tears of joy.

"Oh. I missed you so much, dearest Sukanta.”
She then started making tea and breakfast. Sukanta watched her affectionately. Rashmi 

had bought fresh bread, butter and his favourite 'salami’. They had tea together. Sukanta had 
brought Rashmi as a gift a beautiful Yugoslav leather bag. Rashmi had to hurry back to her 
office. They came out together and went to the IUS office. In the evening Rashmi made 
arrangements for Sukanta to sleep in her own hostel, which had been utilised earlier for many 
other Festival participants.

Sukanta spent about a month in Prague after his return from Yugoslavia. He taught 
Rashmi many things and helped her start her work in the office. He spent his time reading, and 
writing articles on his experiences in Europe for 'The Student" and the "People's Age". Those 
day s Yugoslavia was counted among the foremost People's Democracies. All the youth brigades 
w hich had returned from Belgrade came back greatly inspired. They talked about the sacrifices of 
the Yugoslav youth in the anti-fascist war and the high esteem in w hich the people held their 
beloved leader' Marshal Tito, who had successfully organised the partisan movement against the 

German fascists. The youth teams w'ere given beautifully bound books, pictorial albums, boxes 
and pieces of Yugoslav embroidery as gifts by the Yugoslav national youth organisation. Sukanta 
wrote articles also based on his interview's with Chinese, Malay an and African youth leaders.

In the evenings Rashmi and Sukanta went visiting several beautiful sites. They saw the 
ancient and majestic monuments of old Prague, the President 's castle, the National Theatre, the 
Charles' University. The Institute of Oriental Languages and the Masaryk College. They spent 
many evenings in the spacious parks of Prague and visited the homes of some Czechoslovak 
friends. Winter had set in and it got dark soon. By now they had got used to Czech food— 
polovki' (soup), "lorky-porky' (hot sausages) with mustard, and so on. They had also learnt a 

few useful expressions like ‘Yukui vam ’ (Thank you), 'Prosim (Please), 'indiski ’ (Indian), 
mladi (youth). Most of the Festival participants had left. But still, there were a few foreign 

youth here and there.
One morning Sukanta and Rashmi visited a friend's house near Masaryk College. The 

place was simply but tastefully done up with multicoloured dans, paintings and flowers. On their 
return. Rashmi said, "I wish I could live with you in such a house. I shall make our home 
beautiful even if we are made to lead camp life in a small tent. " But Rashmi sadly said that such 
a thing may not ever prove possible.

During the days of his stay in Prague Sukanta naturally expected a definite commitment, 
a promise from Rashmi, about their future relationship. But Rashmi would always reply, "I can 
make no commitment. You should go home and get married to your friend. I can only tell vou 
this much that 1 shall love you always and ever, whatever may happen.” Once she even said, 

You may try to forget me. Sukanta was hurt and asked, "C an you forget me, Rashmi?” 
Rashmi’s eyes filled with tears. She had no reply.

Sitting in a restaurant, Sukanta said to Rashmi one day, "Your decision is not correct. 
You must think it over again, or else, if you don’t change your mind, it is better that we shall not



even write to each other." Rashmi was once again puzzled and perturbed. She could not visualise 
a situation forcing upon her another break. At such times she would just answer back. "This is 
just not possible.' And so time passed.

The few months in Prague had brought Sukanta and Rashmi very close to each other. 
Both were conscious of the fast-approaching day when they would have to part once again, but 
both also knew that it was impossible for them to break with each other again. In her great sense 
of consideration to Sukanta's friend, Rashmi was making the biggest sacrifice of their common 
happiness, a happiness that she had felt and enjoyed for barely two months, after a long period of 
suffering.

Partition had brought untold sufferings to the people of India and Pakistan Sukanta 
received disturbing news about his family. He was upset for many days. One afternoon, sitting 
on a bench in a park. they both discussed the situation back home. Sukanta's family had been 
forced to migrate from Lyallpur to Delhi. Full news about his sisters had not been received. He 
wrote to Prem Sagar Gupta of Delhi to do his best to help his family. This friend kept Sukanta 
regularly informed about the condition and the whereabouts of his family. Still Sukanta kept 
worrying about his family and, in particular, about his sisters.

Sukanta leaves for India
After a few days, news was received from London that Sukanta's passage to India had 

been booked by boat. The time came for Sukanta to leave Prague. The night before his departure 
Rashmi went out shopping with him. They bought some attractive gifts for Sukanta's sisters and 
brothers. Rashmi took them with her and spent an hour arranging and packing his bags. They 
arranged to start for the station early next morning.

In the morning Sukanta could not get a tram in time and got a little late. However, they 
both rushed to the station. Navin Patel was also there to see Sukanta off. On the station they had 
very little time to be together. As the train started. Rashmi hurriedly slipped a letter in Sukanta's 
pocket. In the envelope there was a photograph of Rashmi which she had put in along with a brief 
message pledging her love for Sukanta. Tears welled up in Rashmi’s eves as the train carried him 
away and far off from her.

Czechslovakia, Rashmi’s temporary home
After Sukanta left, everything appeared sad and lonely to Rashmi. However, she made a 

serious effort to adapt herself to the living conditions in Prague, which was now her temporary 
home.

Czechoslovakia is a country7 inhabited by two nationalities—the Czechs and the Slovaks. 
It is the country where the Second World War started after the infamous Munich Pact with Hitler 
signed by the British Prime Minister Chamberlain.The Germans occupied Czechoslovakia in 
1939 without meeting much resistance. In Bohemia. Moravia and Slovakia a puppet regime was 
set up. But the majority of the people were implacably opposed to the rule of the oppressors. For 
six long years, from 1939 to 1945, an underground resistance movement, led in the main by the 
communists, was conducted by the people. Russians, Ukrainians, Frenchmen and Yugoslavs 
fought in Czechoslovakia, and thousands of them perished during the war.

The country was liberated in 1945. The incredible cruelty of the Hitlerites is still 
remembered with fear and hatred by the people. The German concentration camps, with their 
heaps of emaciated corpses, arc a byword among the common folk.

It was in this country that Rashmi experienced her first European winter. She felt terribly 
cold and uncomfortable, but she stuck to her Indian dress. A pair of black flannel shoes and socks 
helped to keep her warm. The days were very short, and Rashmi found it strange to work in 
electric lights at four in the afternoon. By 5 p.m. it would get dark But Prague looked cheerful 
and bright with its coloured lights. Rashmi found it most interesting to see the first snowfall. 
Sometimes the snow' was knee-deep, but it was not yet so cold. By November Rashmi began to
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feel the extreme cold weather. The IUS offices were centrally heated, but the house where 
Rashmi lived was not. For days together the sky was overcast, and in die mornings and evenings 
there was a mist. The less crowded parts of the city looked dull and quiet and nature presented a 
dark and endlessly deep chilly pit with the moon, a red crescent, hanging motionless. Once 
Rashmi waited for a tram at the station for a full 30 minutes in such weather and felt terribly 
afraid to find herself quite alone, without a single other soul.

The IUS office did not have a strong leadership. There was no Soviet representative at the 
IUS headquarters for many months. Rashmi and her friends were surprised that there was hardly 
any one in the organisation's centre who could understand and appreciate colonial problems. The 
Press and Information Department was manned by British students Once, the editor of the News 
Bulletin, an English student, so badly distorted the words of an article submitted by Rashmi and 
her Asian friends for publication that they were simply furious.

Rashmi headed the ‘Bureau of Students Fighting Against Colonialism', together with 
Sugiono. the Indonesian representative. Peter Chien of the NSFC (China) also assisted them in 
their work. The bureau soon brought out its own cyclostylcd bulletin. Rashmi worked hard to 
prepare regular material for the bulletin. The first occasion for which the Bulletin prepared was 
for popularisation of the cause of colonial youth during the International Students' Week. Rashmi 
went to give talks on the condition of education in her country in many schools and colleges. Tom 
Madden, the English student, accompanied her together with Joseph Grohman. the IUS President 
Tom always insisted on the use of ven restrained language in the portrayal of colonial conditions. 
Hot and passionate words while describing the freedom struggle by colonial representatives in the 
IUS often made him nervous, since he himself belonged to a metropolitan country. Rashmi's 
speeches were studded with statistical facts to prove how 200 years of British rule had made any 
genuine development of education impossible in India. In her speeches, she stressed that the 
British policy of suppression of national languages and imposition of English as the medium of 
instruction obstructed the growth of education in the country'. The failure to lay greater stress on 
technical and vocational education, governed by the desire of the imperialists to keep India 
industrially backward, had resulted in very few technical and industrial institutions in the country 
High tuition fees, expensive textbooks and other educational equipment made it impossible for 
children of the poor to acquire education. The existence of 85% illiteracy in the country proved 
the bankruptcy of British educational policy. The Indian students inspired by patriotism, took a 
leading part in the freedom struggle. Rashmi used to describe proudly the role of the Indian 
students during the RIN Revolt, in the movement demanding the release of the INA prisoners and 
in the great upsurge of freedom struggle leading up to the events of 1947, when India gained her 
national independence.

Once, after a public meeting. Rashmi, T. Grohman and T. Madden were invited to a 
restaurant by the organisers. After tea and refreshments, they were offered drinks. Rashmi sat 
quietly as the others started drinking and proposing toasts. She was amazed at their capacity to 
go on drinking. The English student felt dizzy and could not keep company with the 
Czechoslovak youth. After a while he had to be physically removed as he had become completely 
drunk. Being the only girl among so many boys, and with her conservative background, Rashmi 
felt an utter disgust and asked her hosts to let her retire to her apartment. It was difficult for her to 
appreciate the love of the Europeans, and particularly the continental people, for alcohol which 
she thought made intelligent people appear stupid, when they were in a drunken state.

It was during this period that Cannel Brickman, who had recently returned from the 
South East Asian Conference, became acquainted with Rashmi. She as well as Ben Wienficld, the 
progressive American, were closer to the Asian representatives than other members of the IUS 
Secretariat. Cannel w as a Jewish girl w ith big eyes. And with her deep understanding of the 
colonial people, she soon won the confidence of the Asians. Once, during the ISW, in the bitter 
w inter of Prague, Rashmi, Carmel, Ben, Sugiono, Peter Chien and some others spent a w'hole day 
together. Starting from the Wenceslas Square, they travelled to the wide roads of old Prague and
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had their dinner in a comer restaurant near the President's Castle. They could all speak English 
and this helped them to understand each other. Rashmi felt happy that day after a long time of 
her stay in a state of loneliness and homesickness. Her ignorance of Czech language, which acted 
as a barrier between the foreigners and the native youth, was a big handicap. So the 1US started 
lessons in Czech language.

Soon,. Reddy, Ranga Rao and the Jambhekars arrived in Prague. Rashmi was happy, and 
the Indians started cooking their own food. Ranga Rao took a room in the same building in which 
Rashmi lived and constantly helped her. The Jambhekars settled down in a hotel at first, but they 
shifted to a proper flat with a kitchen and bathroom after a month They had come for a short visit 
to Europe, but soon found that they could not return home with the conditions prevailing in the 
country at that time. Ranga Rao had come to study, and Reddy for treatment of polio, which had 
made him physically disabled. Rashmi treated these South Indian boys like her own brothers and 
discussed all her difficulties with them. The Jambhekars' flat became the centre of their evening 
activities. They went to the Czechoslovak theatre very often. For some time Navin Patel and P. 
Mukherjee. represenbtatives of'Forum', stayed in Prague. However, both left the country soon 
and joined the students' group in England Navin Patel, once a Party member in Bombay , was 
caught in a ease of smuggling foreign currency. The hotel 'Ambassador', where all the foreigners 
assembled, yvas the place from yvhere such unhealthy activities yvere conducted. P. Mukherjee, a 
friend of Navin Patel, also came under suspicion of the Czech police, to the extent that he yvas 
once arrested and interrogated for quite a few hours. As a result the Indian group in Prague yvas 
forced to break off all friendly relations w ith them. Smuggling and black marketing, perhaps not 
considered serious offences elseyvhere, yvere regarded as serious crimes in the People's 
Democracies.

Rashmi soon greyv conscious of the strict atmosphere round her. Whenever they had to 
post a letter to India, they yvere required to show their passports and then present their letter to 
the postmaster. They had to move about extremely cautiously. Raslimi yvas convinced at that time 
that all the security measures and restrictions imposed on foreigners were absolutely necessary in 
the set up of the country with capitalist encirclement all around and spies and pro-impcnalist 
elements active. There was strict rationing in Prague. Every- one had food coupons and even 
those dining in hotels and restaurants were required to produce coupons. In yvinter Rashmi simply- 
longed for green vegetables as potatoes and onions were the only vegetables available. Rashmi 
often went with the IUS staff to eat at the canteen. She liked the Czech soups and sausages, but 
sometimes, when the entire meal in the canteen consisted of sweet dumplings with just a 
sprinkling of powdered cheese, she yvent to distant restaurants outside for lunch.

By 1949 the IUS started its oyvn canteen yvhich supplied both tasty and nourishing food at 
cheaper rates. The Indians sometimes bought noodles, boiled and ate them to get the taste of rice, 
which they missed very much. Butter was rationed, and so was tea. A packet of butter was all one 
could get, and people mostly managed their cooking with margarine. Rashmi took both tea and 
coffee without milk.

November 7, Anniversary of Russian Revolution
The entire Executive Committee of the IUS was invited to a reception at the Soviet 

Embassy on the occasion of the anniversary of the Russian Revolution. After a grand dinner 
party, a programme of songs and dances was organised in the big embassy hall. Rashmi noticed 
that President Gottwald and several other leaders of the government were present in the hall She 
sang the famous song on Lenin written by Sajjad Zaheer.

Muluk rus mein manai raha ik Leynin va ka nam hhayya. Leynin va ka nam 
(ITcrc lived a man in the land of Rus, Brother, and he was called Lenin, and he was 

called Lenin...)

32



The song went oft'extremely well and even-one started dancing to its tune. Little did 
Rashmi drcam that she would attend a reception and dance in the same hall with the leaders of the 
Czechoslovak Government. Here an interesting incident took place.

One by one the student and youth leaders from different countries bowed before Rashmi, 
inviting her for a dance. Tom Madden, Ben Wicnficld, and many others came to her. As she did 
not know how to dance, she declined to dance with them all. Then, suddenly, appeared Mr. 
Trouval of the French NUS, a non-communist and a person the IUS was interested in keeping 
within the Executive Committee despite all the differences. Tactically, thought Rashmi. it would 
be wrong to refuse him. She expressed her inability to dance with him too as she did not know- 
howz to dance, but he said he would teach her. So Rashmi was obliged to accept his proposal. The 
next day she had to face several angry faces, as all those she had declined to dance w ith felt 
annoyed and insulted! Rashmi had to spend quite some time try ing to explain her conduct to all 
these people. She realised that it was w'rong of her to have accepted the invitation to dance from 
any one after declining to dance with the others. It was discourteous and unkind, but then it was 
due only to her complete lack of knowledge of European customs. Later. Rashmi tried to learn 
dancing. She understood that here in all social gatherings a person felt completely isolated if he or 
she did not know' how7 to dance. But Rashmi enjoyed joining only in folk dances She now took 
part in collective dancing together with many other young girls and boys.

Presentation of Material for Stalingrad Youth Memorial
Immediately on her arrival, Rashmi had contacted the Soviet Embassy and had requested 

them to receive the material she had brought from India for the Stalingrad Youth Memorial. A 
large black trunk was bought specially to earn the material. After several visits to the embassy, a 
representative of the embassy came to the IUS office. Rashmi took him to her hostel and gave 
him all the material. Beautiful photographs by Sunil Janah, sketches by Chittaprosad. paintings by 
Amrita Shergill, Hebbar and many other Indian artists, Indian saris done in gold and silver, 
beautiful pieces of coloured silk, specimens of handicrafts, and an anal ( an ornament) made of 
pure gold—these were some of the gifts collected in India after much effort In later years. 
Rashmi thought that it would have been better, had these gifts been presented to the Soviet youth 
delegation attending the Festival, by the Indian delegation. She felt very sad to part with such a 
treasure, but she also felt a sense of pride w hen she thought that these gifts w'ould be placed in 
some museum hall in Moscow7 in a building dedicated to the youth who had given their lives 
defending the ‘City of Steel7—Stalingrad, during the war. Unfortunately, receipt of the material 
was never acknowledged officially. Rashmi felt happy when she learnt from a friend who had 
visited Moscow7, that the material w7as exhibited in the museum halls in the citv.

First visit to Switzerland
Rashmi started work in the Students7 Relief Department first, and later took charge of the 

Colonial Bureau. Soon she was told that she was required to go to Switzerland to attend a meeting 
of the World Students' Relief. Mr Bouchet
(a Frenchman), Tom Madden and Rashmi started together. On reaching the Swiss border Rashmi 
discovered to her great dismay that as she had a British Indian passport, a separate Swiss visa 
was needed. She had not bothered to secure this visa as every one had told her in Prague that a 
British Indian passport was treated like a British passport in the West, and no Swiss visa was 
necessary for that. But this turned out to be wrong. It was 8 p.m. w'hen Rashmi was told to get 
off her train. Rashmi was greatly worried as she was all alone in a foreign territory. Tom even 
started giving her instructions about how she should come the next day. However, the Railway 
authorities got in touch w ith the concerned office on telephone and managed to secure a permit 
for her before the departure of the train. Rashmi felt a great sense of relief. The next morning they 
were all in Geneva.
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